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I take pleasure in presenting the Annual Report for Perseus Mining Limited for 
the year ended 30 June 2010, a year in which the Company has successfully 
accomplished a number of major milestones in its journey to becoming a gold 
producer.

In the short space of 12 months from announcing a positive feasibility study at 
the flagship Central Ashanti Gold Project, the Company has commenced mine 
infrastructure and plant construction with a target of commencing gold production 
in the third quarter of 2011.  In that period of 12 months, mining leases and an 
environmental permit were obtained, debt finance was successfully negotiated 

and substantial equity capital was raised on the back of a listing on the Toronto Stock Exchange.  All this 
was done in conjunction with building a quality project team to take the Central Ashanti Gold Project to 
production and a strengthening of the Board with the appointment of Sean Harvey and Michael Bohm, 
both highly experienced mining industry professionals.

In pursuing its objective of bringing the project into production, the Company has kept its social 
and corporate responsibilities firmly in sight.  In tangible terms, this has translated into providing 
employment for the local communities to the greatest extent possible and we take pride in noting that 
many senior management and almost all middle management roles have been taken by Ghanaian staff.  
The Company has lent its support in time and money to a number of local community projects and 
anticipates doing more as we head towards production. 

With an eye to the future, the Company is presently completing the feasibility study at the Sissingue 
deposit, Tengrela Project in Côte d’Ivoire and anticipates planning for development of that project in 
2011. It has also commenced planning for Stage 2 of the Central Ashanti Gold Project, which aims to 
increase annual production beyond the Stage 1 target of 200,000 gold ounces per annum. Exploration 
and infill drilling at all its projects continue to be major priorities of the Company and a target production 
profile of up to 450,000 ounces of gold by 2014 is a realistic goal for the Company in the short to 
medium term.

The Company’s management structures are in place to tackle the exciting challenges that lie ahead and 
I take the opportunity to record the Board’s appreciation of the efforts of all the staff and management 
of Perseus.  Finally, I thank shareholders for their support during the year and welcome the many new 
shareholders who have come on board during the year.

REG GILLARD
CHAIRMAN

Chairman’s Address
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After receiving all necessary approvals for construction and production at the 
Central Ashanti Gold Project (CAGP) in Ghana we remain on target to achieve 
our first gold pour in the third quarter of 2011.  A development decision on the 
Tengrela Gold Project in Côte d’Ivoire is expected later this year and resource and 
reserve upgrades are expected for the CAGP and the Tengrela Gold Project – it 
will be a busy period ahead for Perseus.

The $140 million we raised in May together with a project loan facility of up to 
US$85 million ensures that development of the CAGP is fully funded.  

Our strong cash balance also means we are able to maintain our exploration effort in Ghana and Côte 
d’Ivoire and progress development of the Sissingue Project at Tengrela. 

Our exploration efforts during the year resulted in the discovery of several new deposits in Ghana and 
Côte d’Ivoire and some high-grade results at Sissingue, resulting in a significant resource upgrade on 
that project. 

The Group’s resource base now stands at 7.2Moz of gold, including 2.1Moz in reserves.  Our plan 
is to upgrade a significant portion of our Inferred and Indicated resources into the reserve category.  
Based on current economic factors, anticipated results from the Sissingue Project Feasibility Study and 
conversion of our Inferred and Indicated resources, we are targeting a significant upgrading of reserves 
by the end of 2011.  

With a 19.9% stake in and a strategic alliance with Burey Gold Limited, an exploration company with a 
focus in Guinea, West Africa, and a 28% interest in  Manas Resources Limited which has this year lifted 
its Kyrgyz Republic resource base to 1.13Moz, we have an  additional exposure to gold exploration in 
other highly prospective regions.

To finish, I would like to thank all of our staff for their efforts over the past year, the Board for its 
continued support and our loyal shareholders.

MARK CALDERWOOD
MANAGING DIRECTOR

Managing Director’s Address
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Review of Operations

OVERVIEW

During the year ended 30 
June 2010, the transition 
of Perseus Mining Limited 
(“Perseus”) from a junior 
gold explorer to a company 
able to successfully 
explore, evaluate and 
develop mineral properties, 
continued at pace.     
Within 12 months of completing a 
definitive feasibility study (“DFS”) 
of the Central Ashanti Gold Project 
(“CAGP”) in Ghana in July 2009, 
the Company has successfully: 
•	 Applied for and been granted 

two mining licences covering 
the CAGP in Ghana; 

•	 Obtained all environmental 
approvals and been issued 
with the environmental permit 
needed for the development of 
the  CAGP; 

•	 Substantially progressed the 
compensation of local residents 
for disturbance to crops and 
land; 

•	 Assembled an experienced 
project management team who 
are capable of successfully 
delivering the CAGP; 

•	 Completed the design of the 
CAGP process plant; 

•	 Placed orders for long lead items 
of plant and equipment, and 
awarded fixed price lump sum 
contracts for the design, supply, 
construction and provision 
of services related to the 
development of the CAGP; and 

•	 Commenced mine construction 
in June 2010.  

In Côte d’Ivoire, Perseus has also 
made strong progress, and during 
the last twelve months it has: 
•	 Through successful exploration 

that generated some very high 
grade intercepts including   
6 metres at 429 g/t gold,  
8 metres at 325 g/t gold,  
22 metres at 72.1 g/t gold, 
20 metres at 65.5 g/t gold 
and 8 metres at 67.7 g/t gold, 
upgraded the Measured and 
Indicated Mineral Resource on 
which the Tengrela Gold Project 
(“TGP”) is based to 0.931M 
ounces of gold plus a further 
257,000 ounces of Inferred 
Mineral Resource at a 0.5 g/t 
gold cut-off grade. 

•	 Substantially advanced 
preparation of a DFS for the 
TGP and maintained the 
schedule for completion of the 
study by November 2010; 

•	 Established a corporate 
presence in Côte d’Ivoire, 
and started assembling a 
management team capable 
of managing the government 
approvals process for the 
development of the TGP.

 At a corporate level, with the aim 
of supporting its West African 
activities, the Company has: 
•	 Listed its shares for trading on 

the Toronto Stock Exchange 
(“TSX”) to complement its 
existing listing on the Australian 
Securities Exchange. Through 
the TSX listing, Perseus has 
gained access to the extensive 
North American capital markets 
for resources companies; 

•	 Raised over $200 million in 
new equity through a number 
of equity placements and 
offerings;

•	 Negotiated a US$85 million  
debt finance facility with 
Macquarie Bank Limited and 
Credit Suisse AG; 

•	 Strengthened its corporate 
management team with the 
recruitment of several key 
executives. 

The year ahead promises further 
corporate growth for the Perseus 
Group through the achievement 
of several more major milestones 
including the completion of 
construction of the CAGP, 
completion of a major upgrade of 
Mineral Reserves at the CAGP and 
completion of the DFS for the TGP. 

GHANA, WEST AFRICA

Ghana has a long history of mining, 
especially for gold. The West 
African country is already producing 
close to three million ounces of 
gold per annum, making it one of 
the world’s largest producers.  
It has an established mining culture 
and skilled workforce.

The rich gold belts in southern 
Ghana have to date supported 
the discovery of over 170 million 
ounces of gold, but despite these 
discoveries Ghana remains under-
explored for gold.  New mines 
in the pipeline include Adamus’s 
Nzema, Perseus’s CAGP and 
Newmont’s Achim.

Ghana’s main economic policy 
objective is to achieve middle-
income status by 2015 and become 
a leading agri-industrial country. 
Ghana’s investment regime is 
liberal with the mining and energy 
sectors attracting the lion’s share of 
foreign direct investment. 
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CENTRAL ASHANTI  
GOLD PROJECT 

The Central Ashanti Gold 
Project is located on the 
Ayanfuri and Nanankaw 
mining leases which 
together with adjoining 
licence areas of Grumesa, 
Kwatechi, Dunkwa, 
Nsuaem and Nkotumso, 
cover a total area of about 
650sq km in the highly 
prospective West African 
nation of Ghana.  

Statutory Approvals  
Two 15 year mining leases 
(renewable under the terms of 
the Ghanaian Minerals and Mining 
Act, 2006) covering a total area 
of 93.13sq km were granted 
to Perseus’ subsidiary Central 
Ashanti Gold Limited in December 
2009 and in June 2010,  Ghana’s 
Environmental Protection Agency 
issued the environmental permit 
enabling construction and mining to 
commence at the CAGP.    

Development Activities 
An exhaustive eight-week tender 
process for the ‘Lump Sum’ 
design, supply and construction 
of the 5.5mtpa CAGP process 
facility ended in September 2009.  
Four conforming tenders were 
received, three of which were 
competitively priced and within the 
DFS estimates.   

In October 2009, Perseus signed 
heads of agreements with a joint 
venture comprising DRA Mineral 
Projects (Pty) Ltd and Group Five 
Projects (Pty) Ltd, agents for Group 
Five Construction (Pty) Ltd on a 

Lump Sum Turn Key basis and 
immediately commenced funding 
initial design, procurement of long 
lead items and site construction 
establishment.  

A review of the capital cost 
estimate for the CAGP has resulted 
in an estimated increase in the 
cost over that estimated in the 
CAGP DFS. The increase in cost 
from US$148M to US$160M is 
mainly the result of a decision to 
significantly increase the capacity 
of the comminution circuit 
(crushing and milling), recognition 
of additional Ghanaian import 
duties, fees and charges; a 13% 
increase in the AU$/US$ exchange 
rate from $0.81 in July 2009 to 
$0.92 at the time of the review 
and an increase in contingency 
allowances from US$11.4M to 
US$13.6M. 

By 30 June 2010, orders for more 
than 90% of all process plant 
equipment had been placed and 
the overall design and procurement 
was well advanced.

Compensation for disturbances 
to crops in the treatment plant 
site area has been paid to local 
farmers following issue of the 
environmental permit and site 
works commenced on 21 June 
2010. Excellent progress has been 
made and the project remains on 
schedule for processing of ore to 
commence in the third quarter of 
2011.  

Project Financing
The CAGP will be financed through 
a mixture of debt and equity capital 
with current funding coming from 
the Company’s significant cash 
reserves. 

A credit committee approved letter 
of offer to provide US$85M of debt 

finance from Macquarie Bank Ltd 
and Credit Suisse AG was accepted 
in June 2010, and work is continuing 
on finalising long form loan 
documentation. This documentation 
is expected to be signed early in the 
fourth quarter of 2010.  

As a pre-requisite for drawing funds 
under the facility, contracts for the 
forward sales of 170,000 ounces of 
gold in the period from March 2012 
to December 2014 were entered 
at an average price of US$1,240.70 
per ounce.  This amount of gold 
price hedging is sufficient to enable 
the Company to draw US$65M of 
the US$85M available under the 
project loan facility. This amount 
equates to approximately 8% of the 
gold contained in current Mineral 
Reserves at the CAGP and about 
23% of forecast gold production 
in the period from March 2012 to 
December 2014.  

In addition, options to sell 100,000 
ounces of gold at US$850 per 
ounce in the period from January 
2012 to December 2013 and a 
further 20,000 ounces of gold at 
US$1,100 per ounce from July to 
December 2011 were purchased as 
part of the Company’s financial risk 
management strategy.  

Management Additions
The Company has recruited an 
experienced team of professionals 
to manage the development and 
subsequently operation of its 
Ghanaian mining operations. This 
team includes a balanced mix of 
professionals with international 
mining experience plus individuals 
with extensive experience in the 
mining industry in Ghana.  The 
Company is also well advanced 
in the recruitment of junior 
management staff, all of whom are 
Ghanaian nationals. 
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Construction of Tanks for Treatment Plant

SAG Mill Foundation Mess Hall

Crusher Foundation

Floatation Tanks Foundation
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EXPLORATION

A total of 79,804 
metres of drilling was 
completed during the 
financial year, which is 
expected to result in 
the announcement of 
Mineral Resource and 
Ore Reserve upgrades 
during the fourth quarter 
of 2010.  

Exploration highlights for the period 
to 30 June 2010, included:

•	 Delineation of significant 
extensions to the Fobinso 
mineral deposit;

•	 Delineation of extensions to and 
better definition of the Abnabna 
and AF-GAP mineral deposits;

•	 Discovery of relatively high 
grade gold below the shallow 
South Bokitso Extension pit; 

	 and

•	 Continued drilling on the  
Esuajah South, Fetish, 
Chirawewa and Dadieso 
deposits.

OUTLOOK FOR 2010 - 2011

During the next 12 months the 
Company intends to:

•	 Complete the construction of 
the CAGP process plant and 
infrastructure;

•	 Commence mining and ore 
stockpiling; 

•	 Announce multiple updates of 
Mineral Resources and Reserves;

•	 Apply for a mining licence for the 
Grumesa deposit; and

•	 Continue aggressive exploration 
of the Company’s Ghanaian land 
holdings. 
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CÔTE D’IVOIRE,  
WEST AFRICA

Côte d’Ivoire is one of Africa’s 
best developed countries, with 
good infrastructure and a relatively 
sophisticated bureaucracy.

Côte d’Ivoire is seeking to boost 
revenues from gold mining to 
diversify its economy away from oil 
and from cocoa, in which it leads 
the world, growing 40% of global 
supply.

Côte d’Ivoire hopes to triple gold 
output by 2015 to about 700,000 
ounces per year as new mines   
start up, including Randgold 
Resources, Tongon.

Current annual gold output from 
Côte d’Ivoire is about 240,000 
ounces from mines operated 
by Societe des Mines D’Ity,   
Newcrest, and Cluff.

Output will start to rise after 
Randgold begins operations 
at Tongon while Perseus and  
Canada’s Etruscan anticipate 
commencing production in the  
next three years.

TENGRELA GOLD PROJECT, 
CÔTE D’IVOIRE

The 885sq km Tengrela Gold 
Project area is located in the north 
of Côte d’Ivoire, immediately 
south of Resolute Mining Limited’s 
6.8Moz Syama and Finkalo Projects 
in Mali, along the same structural/
stratigraphic corridor within the 
Syama-Boundiali greenstone belt.  
The project also lies approximately 
150km south-south-east of the 
Morila gold mine (7Moz) in Mali and 
65km west-north-west of Rangold’s 
Resources, Tongon deposit 
(4.3Moz) in Côte d’Ivoire.
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Table 1: July 2010 Mineral Resource Estimate1 – Sissingue Deposit at 1.0g/t gold cut-off grade

	 Measured	 Indicated	 Measured & Indicated	 Inferred	
	

Type	 Tonnes	 Grade	 Tonnes	 Grade 	 Tonnes	 Grade 	 Gold	 Tonnes	 Grade 	 Gold
 	 	 g/t	 	 g/t	 	 g/t	 Ounces	 	 g/t	 Ounces

Oxide	 10,000	 1.9	 2,028,000	 2.2	 2,038,000	 2.2	 144,000	 599,000	 2.1	 40,000
Transitional 	 83,000	 3.0	 1,134,000	 2.8	 1,218,000	 2.8	 111,000	 232,000	 1.6	 12,000
Primary	 794,000	 3.2	 5,929,000	 2.4	 6,723,000	 2.5	 542,000	 2,473,000	 1.5	 119,000

Total	 888,000	 3.2	 9,091,000	 2.4	 9,979,000	 2.5	 796,000	 3,304,000	 1.6	 171,000

Table 2: July 2010 Mineral Resource Estimate
1 – Sissingue Deposit above 0.5g/t and below 1.0g/t gold cut-off grade

	 Measured	 Indicated	 Measured & Indicated	 Inferred	
	

Type	 Tonnes	 Grade	 Tonnes	 Grade 	 Tonnes	 Grade 	 Gold	 Tonnes	 Grade 	 Gold
 	 	 g/t	 	 g/t	 	 g/t	 Ounces	 	 g/t	 Ounces

Oxide	          0	 0.0	 1,702,000	 0.8	 1,702,000	 0.8	 41,000	 612,000	 0.7	 15,000
Transitional 	   1,000	 0.8	 706,000	 0.8	 707,000	 0.8	 18,000	 495,000	 0.7	 12,000
Primary	 43,000	 0.8	 3,101,000	 0.8	 3,144,000	 0.8	 76,000	 2,530,000	 0.7	 60,000

Total	 44,000	 0.8	 5,509,000	 0.8	 5,553,000	 0.8	 135,000	 3,637,000	 0.7	 86,000

Table 3: Mineral Resource Estimate1 – Sissingue Deposit at 0.5 g/t gold cut-off grade 

	 Measured	 Indicated	 Measured & Indicated	 Inferred	
	

Type	 Tonnes	 Grade	 Tonnes	 Grade 	 Tonnes	 Grade 	 Gold	 Tonnes	 Grade 	 Gold
 	 	 g/t	 	 g/t	 	 g/t	 Ounces	 	 g/t	 Ounces

Total	 931,000	 3.1	 14,600,000	 1.8	 15,532,000	 1.9	 931,000	 6,941,000	 1.2	 257,000

1 Note: rounding applied 

Definitive Feasibility Study (DFS)
The DFS of the TGP is based on 
the Sissingue mineral deposit. 
Started in October 2009, the study is 
progressing well and is on schedule 
for completion during the fourth 
quarter of 2010.  First pass pit 
optimisation studies contemplate the 
mining of material with significantly 
higher gold grades in the early years 
of the project relative to the 2009 
scoping study, with a resultant 
improvement in project economics. 

Sissingue Mineral Resource 
Estimate 
Independent consultant, Runge 
Limited, completed an upgrade of 

the Sissingue Mineral Resources as 
part of their contribution to the DFS 
in July 2010.  Tables 1 to 3 below 
contain a breakdown of the Mineral 
Resource estimate. 

The estimated Measured and 
Indicated Mineral Resources totalled 
15.5Mt at 1.9g/t gold, for 931,000 
ounces of contained gold (at 0.5g/t 
gold cut-off), represents a 43% 
increase in contained ounces of gold 
from the October 2009 Indicated 
Mineral Resource estimate. At a 1g/t 
gold cut-off grade, the July 2010 
Measured and Indicated Mineral 
Resource represents an increase 
of 37%, while Inferred Mineral 

Resource decreased from 5.5Mt at 
1.7g/t gold to 3.3Mt at 1.6g/t gold, 
reflecting conversion of a portion 
of the Inferred Mineral Resource 
following infill drilling. 

Measured and Indicated Resources 
in the top 100 metres total 6.9Mt 
at 2.7g/t gold, containing 600,000 
ounces of gold based on a 1.0g/t 
gold cut-off.  The highest grade 
portion of this is sufficiently large 
to enable it to be targeted for 
production in the initial two years  
of operation.
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Metallurgy 
Metallurgical test work has been largely completed and Process Design Criteria have been developed. The final 
metallurgy report is currently being prepared, and based on test work, the gold recovery and physical parameters are:

		  Oxide Ore	 Fresh Ore

Recovery Parameters	 		
Total Gold recovery 	 %	 92.0	 90.0
Gravity Recovery Component (Average)	 %	 20.0	 23.0
Gravity Recovery Component (Range)	 %	  10 - 54	  7 - 49

Physical Parameters	 		
Unconfined Compressive Strength	 Mpa	 -	 132.5
Crushing Work Index	 kWh/t	 -	 7.7
Bond Rod Mill Work Index	 kWh/t	 3.7	 19.1

Bond Ball Mill Work Index	 kWh/t	 5.4	 16.3

Geotechnical Engineering
Pit and tailings dam geotechnical 
drilling and logging has been 
completed and reports are being 
prepared.  The requisite mine 
design parameters have been 
incorporated into the mining 
engineering models and schedules.    
The geotechnical and mine design 
studies are being undertaken by 
Coffey Mining Services.  

Process Plant Design
The manager of the DFS, Mintrex, 
has completed the initial plant 
design and layout and is well 
advanced in the capital costing 
development.  Process flow 
diagrams have been developed and 
signed off. The electrical power 
supply to the project, under design 
by BEC Engineering, is in the final 
stages of evaluation with two 
options under discussion. 

Environmental 
A local Ivorian environmental 
consultant, CECAF, has completed 
both phases of fieldwork needed 
for the baseline environmental 
survey.  The second phase of 
reporting remains to be completed 
and is the only outstanding on the 

baseline work required for the DFS. 
The Company is working closely 
with the Ivorian Environmental 
Protection Agency and Ministry 
of Mines and Energy to map the 
approvals and permitting process. 

Exploration
A total of 83,262 metres of 
Reverse Circulation (RC) and 
Diamond Drilling (DD) and 36,098 
metres of Rotary Air Blast (RAB) 
drilling was completed on the 
Tengrela Gold Project in the period 
from July 2009 to June 2010.  

Exploration highlights for the 
period included:

•	 Significant increase in grade of 
the Sissingue deposit due to 
successful infill drilling;

•	 Further significant drill intercepts 
at the Sissingue deposit 
following the cut-off for drilling 
results incorporated into the  
July 2010 Minerals Resource;

•	 Commencement of RC drilling  
of prospects outside of 
Sissingue; and

•	 A recent new gold discovery  
at Kanakono deposit.

Management Additions
In anticipation of completion of 
the DFS in the fourth quarter of 
2010, Perseus’ Ivorian subsidiary, 
Occidental Gold Sarl, has 
commenced the process of building 
a locally based management team 
that is capable of working with 
government agencies including the 
Ministry of Mining and Petroleum 
and the Environmental Protection 
Agency, to agree terms for permits 
and licences required to develop 
and operate the TGP.

OUTLOOK FOR 2010 – 2011

During the next 12 months the 
Company anticipates:

•	 Completing the TGP DFS;

•	 Board review of the TGP DFS 
and if approved, proposed 
pre-construction activities at 
Sissingue;

•	 Commence Environmental 
and Mining Licence approval 
process; 

•	 Continue further extensional 
and infill drilling at Sissingue; 
and

•	 Continued exploration on a 
number of prospects. 

Review of Operations
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Table 4: Mineral Reserves 

	 Proven	 Probable	 Total	
	
	 Quantity	 Gold	 Contained	 Quantity	 Gold	 Contained	 Quantity	 Gold	 Contained
Deposit	 (Mt)	 Grade	 Gold	 (Mt)	 Grade	 Gold	 (Mt)	 Grade	 Gold
		  (g/t)	 (ozs)		  (g/t)	 (ozs)		  (g/t)	 (ozs)	
	

CAGP
 >0.5g/t (1)	 18.4	 1.4	 828,000	 37.0	 1.1	 1,313,000	 55.4	 1.2	 2,141,000

Table 5:   Mineral Resources (excluding Mineral Reserves)

	 Measured & Indicated	 Inferred		
	
	 Tonnes	 Gold	 Contained	 Tonnes	 Gold	 Contained
Deposit	 (million)	 Grade	 Gold	 (million)	 Grade	 Gold
		  (g/t)	 (ozs)		  (g/t)	 (ozs)
	

CAGP >0.8g/t  (1)	 15.8	 1.5	 764,000	 29.9	 1.5	 1,423,000
CAGP 0.4g/t - 0.8g/t (1)	 14.1	 0.6	 267,000	 31.9	 0.7	 691,000
TGP (2)  >1.0g/t	 9.9	 2.5	 796,000	 3.3	 1.6	 171,000
TGP (2)  0.5g/t -1.0g/t	 5.5	 0.8	 135,000	 3.6	 0.7	 86,000
Grumesa South >0.4 / 0.6g/t (3)	 7.1	 0.9	 195,000	 1.9	 0.8	 46,000
Grumesa North >0.4g/t (4)	 -	 -	 -	 21.4	 0.8	 573,000

Total (6)	 25.7	 1.9	 1,560,000	 33.2	 1.5	 1,594,000

Total (7)	 52.4	 1.3	 2,157,000	 92.0	 1.0	 2,990,000

Notes
1)	 Last updated on 30 July 2009
2)	 July 2010 estimate 
3)	 Last updated on  30 April 2007
4)	 Last updated on 29 September 2006
5)	 The Group owns 90% of CAGP, and assumes ownership of 90% of Grumesa and 80% of Tengrela after allowing for 10% of equity 

to be transferred to the government of the host country at the time of permitting
6)	 CAGP cut-off >0.8g/t ;TGP cut-off >1.0g/t
7)	 CAGP cut-off >0.4g/t ; TGP cut-off >0.5g/t

Review of Operations

MAHALE & MBENGUE 
EXPLORATION PERMITS, 
CÔTE D’IVOIRE
The Group has been granted two 
additional prospecting permits 
(Permis de Recherche) in the 
Tengrela - Tongon region of Côte 

d’Ivoire. These are the Mahale 
permit that covers about 849sq 
km and the Mbengue permit that 
covers about 913sq km.  The 
Group has undertaken broad 
spaced geochemical sampling on 
both permits and has identified 

one large, gold in soil anomaly 
covering 5.6km by 2.2km located 
approximately 11km from 
Rangold’s Tongon gold mine. A 
follow-up drill program will be 
implemented on this anomaly as 
soon as possible.
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COMMUNITY, 
ENVIRONMENTAL, 
HEALTH & SAFETY

Community
As part of the Central Ashanti Gold 
Project permitting, an extensive 
public consultation and participation 
process began to give people who 
may be affected by the project 
the opportunity to comment, raise 
concerns or to make suggestions 
that may result in the enhancement 
of the project. Comments and 
issues raised during the public 
participation process fed into the 
Environmental Impact Statement 
which formed the basis on which 
the Environmental Protection 
Agency (EPA) based its decision 
to approve the project.   The 
necessary customary rites were 
performed symbolising that 
the Chiefs and Elders of the 
communities welcome the project.

Courtesy visits were paid to the 
Paramount Chiefs of the Wassa 
Amenfi and Denkyira traditional 
areas and visits were also made to 
the offices of the Chief Executives 
of the two districts in which the 
CAGP is located, to officially 
introduce Perseus to the District 
Assembly (Government Authority).

A company-community 
consultative committee comprising 
representatives of Chiefs, women, 
youth, political leaders, local 
government administration and 
other stakeholders has been 
formed to serve as a forum for 
facilitating timely exchange of 
information, planning of social 
development projects and resolving 
community concerns related to 
the Company’s activities which 
may arise from time to time. A 
commitment has been made to 

establish a Social Development 
Trust Fund upon commencement 
of production. This fund will be 
used to facilitate development 
projects during the life of mine.

The Company established a 
Community Information Office 
in Ayanfuri where community 
members can deliver job 
applications and raise any concerns.

Notice boards have also been 
erected in the five catchment 
communities where company 
information is posted for the 
general information of the public.

Stakeholder identification and 
engagement has been ongoing 
and a stakeholder engagement 
and communication plan is 
being drafted to allow effective 
management of relationships with 
all stakeholders. 

The Company has undertaken a 
number of social projects to date: 

•	 Roofing repairs to the existing 
Abenabena primary school;

•	 Repairs to water bores at 
Fobinso, Abenabena and 
Nkonya villages;

•	 Gyaman primary school 
renovation;

•	 Roofing repairs to the existing 
Fobinso school;

•	 Construction of a room where 
students can sit their exams 
at Nkonya Junior Secondary 
School;  

•	 Establishment of waste 
disposal sites at Ayanfuri, 
Nkonya and Gyaman villages; 

•	 A financial contribution to 
the Ayanfuri town water 
supply project which is now 
operational; and

•	 In partnership 
	 with Operation 
	 Happy Child, a Ghanaian 

NGO working in partnership 
with an international NGO, the 
Company distributed 1,000 
Samaritan Pulse Gift boxes to 
school children in the project 
area who were starting their 
first day at school.

Projects planned or in progress 
include:

•	 Construction of new primary 
schools for Abenabena and 
Fobinso villages;

•	 Establishing a library at the 
five primary schools in the 
catchment area. Books have 
been donated by Australian 
primary schools and will be 
supplemented with Ghanaian 
text books. 

•	 In partnership with 
Wheelchairs for Kids, 
an Australian NGO, the 
Company will be freighting 
130 wheelchairs for children 
living with a disability in our 
operational areas. 

Perseus is in the process of 
commissioning a comprehensive 
socio-economic and health 
assessment of the communities 
surrounding the project. Results 
from this study will serve as the 
baseline for the monitoring and 
evaluation system throughout the 
life of mine. 
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Environmental
The draft Environmental Impact 
Statement (“EIS”) for the CAGP 
was completed and initially lodged 
with EPA in September 2009. Prior 
to completion of the EIS document 
a series of public meetings were 
held with the project affected 
communities with the aim of 
explaining the project to them and 
to understand their concerns and 
expectations regarding the project 
development.  

EPA held a public hearing at 
Ayanfuri on 17 November 2009 
to officially inform the affected 
and other communities of the 
proposed project and to also hear 
any concerns. The Public Hearing 

was successful and reflected the 
transparent approach adopted by 
the Company through organising a 
series of public meetings to explain 
the project to the communities.  

The Environmental Permit for the 
project was issued in June 2010 
by the EPA following a series of 
reviews by it. 

Occupational Health & Safety
During the year, no time was lost 
through injury to employees or 
contractors.

All new employees including 
contractors and visitors are 
required to attend the site induction 
program before being allowed 
into any of the operational areas. 

The purpose of this program is to 
introduce all new personnel to the 
Company Rules and Regulations, 
Safety Procedures and Safe 
Working Practices in place on site.  

The Safety Management Plan is 
currently being compiled with the 
aim of being fully adopted prior to 
the commencement of mining.  

Twelve (12) personnel of the 
security department were selected 
to be trained to respond to 
emergencies and safely respond to 
any accidents. 

The Company is in the process 
of initiating St. Johns Ambulance 
first aid training for the general 
workforce. 

Competent Person Statement
The information in this report that relates to exploration results, mineral resources or ore reserves is based on information compiled by Mr Mark Calderwood, who is a 
Member of The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy.  Mr Calderwood is a Director and full-time employee of the Company.  Mr Calderwood has sufficient 
experience, which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit  under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking, to qualify as a Competent 
Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves” and to qualify as a “Qualified 
Person” under National Instrument 43-101 – Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (“NI 43-101”).  Mr Calderwood consents to the inclusion in this report of the 
matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears. For a description of Perseus’ data verification process, quality assurance and quality control 
measures, the effective date of the mineral resource and mineral reserve estimates contained herein, details of the key assumptions, parameters and methods used to 
estimate the mineral resources and reserves set out in this report and the extent to which the estimate of mineral resources or mineral reserves set out herein may be 
materially affected by any known environmental, permitting, legal, title, taxation, socio-political, marketing or other relevant issues, readers are directed to the technical 
report entitled “Technical Report – Central Ashanti Gold Project, Ghana” dated November 30, 2009 and the technical report entitled “Technical Report – Tengrela Gold 
Project, Ivory Coast” dated September 2, 2010  in relation to the Central Ashanti Gold Project and the Tengrela Gold Project respectively.å
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Directors’ Report

Your Directors present their report together with the 
annual financial report of Perseus Mining Limited (the 
“Company” or “Perseus”) and its controlled entities 
(collectively referred to as the “consolidated entity” 
or the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2010.  In 
accordance with the provisions of the Corporations Act, 
the Directors report as follows:

DIRECTORS
The names, qualifications, experience and special 
responsibilities of the Directors in office during or since 
the end of the financial year are as follows. Directors 
were in office for the entire financial year unless 
otherwise stated.

Reginald Norman Gillard BA FCPA FAICD JP 

Non-Executive Chairman 
(Appointed 24/10/2003)

After practising as an accountant for over 30 years, 
during which time he formed and developed a number of 
service related businesses, Mr Reg Gillard now focuses 
on corporate management, corporate governance and 
the evaluation and acquisition of resource projects.  Mr 
Gillard also serves on the audit and the remuneration 
committees of the Company.  During the past three 
years he has also served as a non-executive director of 
the following listed companies:

Other Current Directorships
Aspen Group Limited 	 appointed 24 December 2001
Eneabba Gas Limited 	 appointed 2 August 2005
Tiger Resources Limited 	 appointed 9 December 2005
Platina Resources Limited	 appointed 1 July 2009

Former Directorships in the last 3 years
Caspian Oil & Gas Limited 	 appointed 6 July 1994, 
	 resigned 31 August 2010
Lindian Resources Limited	 appointed 30 October 2006, 	
	 resigned 20 August 2010
Lafayette Mining Limited 	 appointed 15 November 1996, 	
	 resigned 20 June 2008
Pioneer Nickel Limited	 appointed 17 March 2005, 
	 resigned 13 June 2008
Elemental Minerals Limited	 appointed 6 June 2006, 
	 resigned 30 June 2008

Mark Andrew Calderwood AusIMM 
Managing Director
(Appointed 23/01/2004)

The Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer, 
Mr Mark Calderwood, is a member of the Australasian 
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and has extensive 
experience exploring for and mining gold.  He has over 
11 years of experience in West Africa and has a wide 
network of contacts throughout the region.  During the 
past three years he has also served as a non-executive 
director of the following listed company:

Other Current Directorships
Manas Resources Limited		 appointed 17 October 2007

Colin John Carson CPA FCIS MAICD 
Executive Director
(Appointed 24/10/2003)

Mr Colin Carson has served as a director and company 
secretary of a number of Australian public companies 
since the early 1980s. As Executive Director of Perseus, 
Mr Carson is responsible for the Company’s joint venture 
negotiations, corporate and legal matters.  During the 
past three years he has also served as a non-executive 
director of the following listed companies:

Other Current Directorships 
Caspian Oil & Gas Limited 	 appointed 10 October 1994	
Manas Resources Limited 	 appointed 17 October 2007

Rhett Boudewyn Brans MIEAust CPEng

Executive Director 
(Appointed 26/05/2004)

Mr Brans qualified as a civil engineer in 1974 at what 
is now known as Monash University, and completed 
an advanced management program at the University of 
Melbourne in 1991.
Mr Brans has over 30 years of experience in the 
design and construction of mineral treatment facilities.  
His experience extends across the full spectrum of 
development activities, ranging from mining feasibility 
studies through to commissioning operations. He has also 
managed the development of several gold and base metal 
projects.  As an executive director, Mr Brans is responsible 
for Perseus’ project development and operating activities. 
During the past three years he has also served as a non-
executive director of the following listed company:

Other Current Directorships 
Tiger Resources Limited appointed 11 July 2008
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Neil Christian Fearis LL.B. (Hons) MAICD F FIN

Non-Executive Director
(Appointed 26/05/2004)

Mr Neil Fearis has over 30 years of experience as a 
commercial lawyer in the UK and Australia.  He practices 
principally in the area of mergers and acquisitions, 
takeovers, public floats, and other forms of capital 
raising and is a member of several professional bodies 
associated with commerce and the law.
Mr Fearis serves as Chairman of the Company’s 
audit committee and a member of the remuneration 
committee. During the past three years he has also 
served as a director of the following listed companies:

Other Current Directorships 
Carnarvon Petroleum Limited 	appointed 30 November 1999
Magma Metals Limited	 appointed 8 October 2009

Former Directorships in the last 3 years
Kresta Holdings Limited 	 appointed November 1997, 		
	 resigned 31 December 2009
Liberty Resources Ltd 	 appointed 25 June 2007, 		
	 resigned 10 November 2008

Terence Sean Harvey BA MA LL.B MBA

Non-Executive Director
(Appointed 02/09/2009)

Mr Sean Harvey has extensive experience in 
investment banking and the resources sector and 
brings valuable experience in capital markets to the 
Board to assist the Company as it seeks to broaden 
global market awareness of its growth into a West 
African gold producer. Mr Harvey holds an Honours 
BA degree in Economics and Geography and an MA in 
Economics, both from Carleton University; an LL.B from 
the University of Western Ontario; and an MBA from 
the University of Toronto and is a member of the Law 
Society of Upper Canada.  
Mr Harvey serves on the Company’s audit committee.  
During the past three years he has also served as a 
director of the following listed companies:

Other Current Directorships
Allied Gold Limited	 appointed 11 March 2010
Andina Minerals Inc.	 appointed 29 December 2004
Victoria Gold Corporation	 appointed 31 July 2007

Former Directorships in the last 3 years
Moto Goldmines Limited 	 appointed 26 May 2005, 
	 resigned 15 October 2009
Australian Solomons Gold Limited	appointed 6 October 2006, 
	 resigned 24 November 2009
Nord Resources Corp	 appointed 21 December 2007,
	 resigned 17 June 2010
Polaris Geothermal Inc. 	 appointed June 2004, 
	 resigned 16 June 2009

Michael Andrew Bohm - B.AppSc (Mining Eng.),MAusIMM

Non Executive Director
(Appointed 15 October 2009)
Mr Michael Bohm is a mining engineer with extensive 
experience in operations management, evaluation and 
project development in Australia, Northern Europe, SE 
Asia and North America.  Mr Bohm has over 24 years 
minerals industry experience predominantly in the 
gold, nickel and diamond sectors in both open pit and 
underground mining environments. 
Mr Bohm serves on the Company’s remuneration 
committee. During the past three years he has also 
served as a director of the following listed companies:

Other Current Directorships
Herencia Resources plc.	
appointed 14 June 2006

COMPANY SECRETARY

Susmit Mohanlal Shah BSc Econ CA

(Appointed 24/10/2003)

Mr Susmit Shah is a chartered accountant with over 25 
years of experience.  Over the last 16 years, Mr Shah 
has been involved with a diverse range of Australian 
public listed companies in company secretarial and 
financial roles.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

CORPORATE STRUCTURE

Perseus Mining Limited is a limited liability company that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  It has prepared 
a consolidated financial report incorporating the entities that it controlled during the financial year, which are shown 
in the illustration of the Group’s corporate structure as at 30 June 2010 which follows in Figure 1.

Perseus
Mining
Limited

(Australia)

Centash 
Holdings 
Pty Ltd

(Australia)

Sun Gold
Resources Ltd

(Ghana)

Tengrela
Gold Project

Central Ashanti
Gold Project

Kwatechi
Project

Grumesa
Project

90% 1

16%

100%

100%

100%

80% 1

90%

100%

100% 100%

Occidental
Gold Pty Ltd

(Australia)

Occidental
Gold SARL

(Côte d’Ivoire)

Central
Ashanti Gold

Limited

(Ghana)

Kojina
Resources Ltd

(Ghana)

Figure 1 - PERSEUS MINING LIMITED – GROUP STRUCTURE 30 JUNE 2010

1 After allowing for 10% interest to be transferred to the host Government on granting of a mining lease.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group during the course of 
the financial year were gold exploration, evaluation and 
development in the West African countries of Ghana 
and Côte d’Ivoire.  

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The consolidated loss after tax for the year ended 30 
June 2010 was $9,781,0001 (2009: $4,789,201). No 
dividends were paid during the year and the Directors 
do not recommend payment of a dividend.
1Unless noted otherwise, all amounts stated are expressed in 
Australian dollars and cents.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share for the year was 2.94 cents  
(2009: 2.53 cents).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

A review of the Group’s operations during the year 
ended 30 June 2010 is provided in the section of 
this report headed “Review of Operations” which 
immediately precedes this Directors’ Report.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS

Significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group 
during the financial year were as follows:

1.	 Following the completion of a positive 
Definitive Feasibility Study in July 2009, 
Perseus committed to the development of 
its Central Ashanti Gold Project (“CAGP”) 
in Ghana and commenced construction of 
the CAGP processing facilities in the latter 
stages of the financial year, confirming a 
transition of the Company from a gold explorer 
into an integrated company involved in gold 
exploration, evaluation, development and 
operations.

2.	 The Company has raised approximately $205 
million of new equity capital and has accepted 
a committed letter of offer for US$85 million 
of debt capital which will be used to fund 
the Company’s exploration and development 
activities.  

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE

Subsequent to year end, the Company announced a 
significant upgrade of the Sissingue Mineral Resource 
which forms part of the Tengrela Gold Project in Côte 
d’Ivoire. At a 1.0g/t gold cut-off grade, the upgraded 
Measured and Indicated Mineral Resource amounts 
to 9.9Mt at 2.5g/t of gold for 796,000 ounces and the 
Inferred Mineral Resource amounts to 3.3Mt at 1.6g/t 
of gold for 171,000 ounces. The grade of the Measured 
and Indicated Mineral Resource is 37% higher than in 
the previously announced resource estimate. 

Since the end of the financial year and to the date of 
this report, no other matter or circumstance has arisen 
that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect, the operations of the consolidated entity, the 
results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
consolidated entity in subsequent financial years. 

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS

The Company’s focus during the next financial year 
will be on development of the Central Ashanti Gold 
Project in Ghana and completion of the Feasibility Study 
and development approvals process for the Tengrela 
Gold Project in Côte d’Ivoire. The Company will also 
continue exploration of the tenements associated with 
these projects as well as other tenements held by the 
Group in West Africa. Further commentary on planned 
activities in these projects over the forthcoming 
year is provided in the section of this report headed 
“Review of Operations” which immediately precedes 
this Directors’ Report. Perseus will also assess new 
opportunities where it is considered that these have 
synergies with existing projects or that the Company 
can add value through the use of its exploration and 
development expertise.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS

Located in Ghana and Côte d’Ivoire, the Group’s 
exploration and development projects are not subject 
to any significant Australian environmental laws. They 
are however, subject to environmental laws, regulations 
and permit conditions that apply in each of Ghana and 
Côte d’Ivoire respectively.  There have been no known 
breaches of environmental laws or permit conditions by 
the Company while conducting operations in either of 
these jurisdictions.
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DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS

The number of meetings of the Directors and the number of meetings attended by each Director during the year 
ended 30 June 2010 were:

	 Full Meetings of Directors	 Audit Committee Meetings	 Remuneration Committee
	 Meetings	 Meetings	 Meetings	 Meetings	 Meetings	 Meetings
	 Eligible to 	 Attended	 Eligible to	 Attended	 Eligible to	 Attended
	 Attend	  	 Attend		  Attend
		
R N Gillard	 14	 14	 2	 2	 2	 2
M A Calderwood	 14	 12	 -	 -	 -	 -
C J Carson	 14	 14	 -	 -	 -	 -
R B Brans	 14	 13	 -	 -	 -	 -
N C Fearis	 14	 14	 2	 2	 2	 2
TS Harvey1	 12	 11	 1	 1	 -	 -
M A Bohm2	 9	 9	 -	 -	 1	 1

1. Mr Sean Harvey was appointed as a director on 2 September 2009; and 
2. Mr Michael Bohm was appointed as a director on 15 October 2009

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

At the date of this report, the interests of Directors in the shares and options of the Company, held directly and 
beneficially, are as follows:

	 Fully Paid 	 Options to acquire
	 Ordinary Shares	  Ordinary Shares
		
R N Gillard	 955,732	 -
M A Calderwood	 4,600,000	 -
C J Carson	 503,200	 -
R B Brans	 850,000	 600,000
N C Fearis	 477,732	 -
T S Harvey	 100,000	 600,000
M A Bohm	 20,000	 400,000

During or since the end of the financial year, the following ordinary shares in the Company were issued to the 
following Directors and two of the five most highly remunerated officers of the Company1 upon their exercising 
their options to acquire ordinary shares:

Name	 Number of Options 	 Exercise Price	 Exercise Date	 Number of 	
	 Exercised			   Shares Issued

		
R N Gillard	 600,000	 $1.50	 28 June 2010	 600,000
M A Calderwood	 1,200,000	 $1.50	 5 July 2010	 1,200,000
C J Carson	 540,000	 $1.50	 23 July 2010	 540,000
R B Brans	 400,000	 $1.50	 21 July 2010	 400,000
N C Fearis	 400,000	 $1.50	 28 July 2010	 400,000

K P Thompson }	 50,000	 $0.50	 3 December 2009	 50,000

                         }	 475,000	 $0.50	 17 March 2010	 475,000

A Scott	 300,000	 $0.65	 9 February 2010	 300,000

1 The remaining two Directors and three of the five most highly remunerated officers of the Company did not exercise any options and 
therefore were not issued with shares during or since the end of the financial year.
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The following share options of the Company were issued to Directors and to three of the five most highly 
remunerated officers of the Company1 during or since the end of the financial year as part of their remuneration: 

   Name	 Position Held	 Number of	 Exercise	 Expiry Date	
		  Options	 Price
		
T S Harvey	 Director	 600,000	 $1.30	 31 March 2012
M A Bohm	 Director	 400,000	 $1.80	 31 March 2012
K P Thompson	 Regional Exploration Manager (West Africa)	 300,000	 $2.13	 16 June 2013
J A Quartermaine	 Chief Financial Officer	 400,000	 $2.45	 29 July 2012
G S Pierce	 General Manager Operations	 750,000	 $2.13	 14 January 2012
								      
1 The remaining five Directors and two of the five most highly remunerated officers of the Company were not issued with options during 
or since the end of the financial year.

SHARE OPTIONS

As at the date of this report, the total number of unissued ordinary shares in the Company under option was 
9,125,000 as follows:

   Type of Security	 Number	 Exercise Price	 Issue Date	 Expiry Date
		
Unlisted Options	 1,000,000	 $1.00	 20 March 2009	 31 December 2010
Unlisted Options	 600,000	 $1.00	 19 December 2008	 30 June 2011
Unlisted Options	 1,800,000	 $0.60	 13 August 2009	 13 August 2011
Unlisted Options	 1,800,000	 $2.13	 15 January 2010	 14 January 2012
Unlisted Options	 1,195,000	 $0.65	 23 January 2009	 23 January 2012
Unlisted Options	 400,000	 $1.80	 15 October 2009	 31 March 2012
Unlisted Options	 600,000	 $1.30	 27 November 2009	 31 March 2012
Unlisted Options	 400,000	 $2.45	 29 July 2010	 29 July 2012
Unlisted Options	 1,330,000	 $2.13	 27 June 2010	 16 June 2013

These options do not entitle the holder to participate in any share issue of the Company or any other body corporate.  
There are no options to subscribe for shares in any controlled entity. No other options have been issued. 

Shares issued on exercise of options

During or since the end of the financial year, the Company issued 9,250,000 ordinary shares as a result of the 
exercise of options as follows:

	 Number of Shares Issued	 Issue Price of each Share 
		
	 2,250,000	 $0.40
	 200,000	 $0.60
	 525,000	 $0.50
	 3,800,000	 $1.50
	 1,325,000	 $0.65
	 1,000,000	 $0.80	
	 150,000	 $1.30	

No amounts were unpaid on these shares.
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INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF 
DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND AUDITORS

The Company’s Constitution requires it to indemnify 
Directors and Officers of any entity within the 
consolidated Group against liabilities incurred to third 
parties and against costs and expenses incurred in 
defending civil or criminal proceedings, except in 
certain circumstances.  An indemnity is also provided 
to the Company’s auditors under the terms of their 
engagement.  The Directors and Officers of the Group 
have been insured against all liabilities and expenses 
arising as a result of work performed in their respective 
capacities, to the extent permitted by law. The insurance 
premium, paid during the year ended 30 June 2010, 
amounted to $18,600, and relates to:

•	 costs and expenses incurred by the relevant 
officers in defending proceedings, whether 
civil or criminal and whatever the outcome.

•	 other liabilities that may arise from their 
position, with the exception of conduct 
involving a wilful breach of duty or improper 
use of information or position to gain a personal 
advantage.

REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited)

This report outlines the remuneration arrangements 
in place for the Group’s Key Management Personnel 
(“KMP”) including the five most highly remunerated 
executives, for the financial year ended 30 June 2010. 
The information provided in this remuneration report 
has been audited as required by Section 308(3C) of the 
Corporations Act 2001.  

KMPs are defined as those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
major activities of the Company and the Group, directly 
or indirectly, including any director (whether executive 
or otherwise) of the parent company. 

At the date of this report, the KMP of the Group are 
the Directors of the Company (refer to pages 22 to 23 
for details) plus the following executives who report 
directly to the Managing Director. 

Mr Susmit Shah	 Company Secretary
Mr Kevin Thomson	 Regional Exploration Manager 	
	 (West Africa)
Mr Jeffrey Quartermaine	 Chief Financial Officer
Mr Grant Pierce	 General Manager Operations 

There have been no changes of the KMP after reporting 
date and before the date the financial report was 
authorised for issue. 

Remuneration philosophy

The broad remuneration philosophy of the Company is 
to ensure that remuneration packages paid to directors 
and executives are commensurate with their duties 
and responsibilities and the level of performance that 
they are required to deliver, while at the same time 
being competitive to ensure that the Company can 
attract, motivate and retain people of the highest 
calibre. Independent advice on the appropriateness of 
remuneration packages is obtained where necessary. 

Remuneration committee

The Company’s Board of Directors has formally 
constituted a Remuneration Committee, comprising 
Mr Gillard (Chairman), Mr Fearis and Mr Bohm.  The 
Committee’s charter includes the following duties:

•	 reviewing Non-Executive Director’s fees and 
costs with reference to independent, external 
benchmarks;

•	 reviewing the Managing Director’s and other 
Executive Director’s base remuneration, allowances 
and incentives in consultation with reference to 
independent, external benchmarks; and

•	 reviewing the remuneration guidelines for senior 
management, including base salary, bonuses, share 
options, salary packaging and final contractual 
agreements.

The Remuneration Committee assesses on a periodic 
basis, the appropriateness of the nature and amount of 
remuneration paid to Directors and senior managers, by 
reference to relevant employment market conditions 
with the overall objective of ensuring maximum 
stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality 
board and management team.

Remuneration structure

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, 
the structure of remuneration for Non-Executive and 
Executive Directors is separate and distinct.
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Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration

Objective

The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration of 
Non-Executive Directors at a level which provides the 
Company with the ability to attract and retain directors 
of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost which is 
acceptable to shareholders.

Structure

The Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules specify 
that the aggregate remuneration of Non-Executive 
Directors shall be determined from time to time by 
the shareholders in general meeting.  An amount not 
exceeding the amount determined is then divided 
between the Directors as agreed.  The last determination 
was at a general meeting of shareholders held on 
27 November 2009, when shareholders approved 
aggregate remuneration (excluding the value of share 
based payments) of $400,000 per year.

The Remuneration Committee reviews the remuneration 
packages payable to the Non-Executive Directors on an 
annual basis and reports to the Board.  The Committee 
considers fees paid to Non-Executive Directors of 
comparable companies when undertaking the annual 
review process.

Equity components of Non-Executive Directors’ remuner-
ation, including the issue of options, are required to be 
approved by shareholders prior to award.

The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors for the 
year ending 30 June 2010 is detailed in Table 1 of this 
report.

Executive Directors’ and other senior executives’ 
remuneration

Objective

The Company aims to reward its Executive Directors 
and other senior executives with a level of remuneration 
commensurate with their position and responsibilities 
within the Company. In doing so, it aims to:

•	 	 align the interests of Executive Directors 
and senior managers and with those of 
shareholders;

•	 	 link executive’s reward to the strategic goals 
and performance of the Company; and

•	 	 ensure total remuneration is competitive 
relative to that paid to Executive Directors and 
senior managers of peer group companies.

Structure
Remuneration consists of the following key elements:

•	 	 fixed remuneration; and
•	 	 variable remuneration.

Fixed remuneration

The base level of fixed remuneration for Executive 
Directors and other senior executives is set so as to 
provide a level of remuneration which is both appropriate 
to the position and is competitive in the market.

Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the 
Remuneration Committee. The process involves a 
review of the performance of the Group, business 
units and individuals as well as relevant comparative 
remuneration data. As appropriate, independent external 
advice on remuneration policies and practices is obtained 
on relevant benchmarks.  

The fixed component of the remuneration of the 
Executive Directors and senior managers for the year 
ending 30 June 2010 is detailed in Table 1 of this report.

Variable remuneration – Long Term Incentives 

Objective
The objective of providing long term incentives is to 
reward Executive Directors and senior managers for the 
creation of shareholder wealth. As such, grants of long 
term incentives are made to executives who have a direct 
impact on the Company’s performance and who are able 
to influence the generation of shareholder wealth.

Structure
Long term incentives take the form of options to purchase 
ordinary shares in the Company.  The issue of options 
as part of the remuneration packages of Executive and 
Non-Executive Directors and senior management is an 
established practice of many public listed companies 
and, in the case of the Company, has the benefit of 
conserving cash whilst appropriately rewarding each of 
the recipients. As previously noted, equity components 
of remuneration for directors, including the issue of 
options, are generally required to be approved by 
shareholders prior to award.

The remuneration of Executive Directors and senior 
managers for the year ending 30 June 2010 is detailed in 
Table 1 of this report.
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Employment agreements

Mark Calderwood has entered into an agreement with the 
Company to be employed as its Managing Director.  Mr 
Calderwood’s contract commenced on 1 January 2004 
and does not contain a specific termination date. Either 
party can terminate the agreement by giving six months’ 
written notice. During the year, Mr Calderwood received 
remuneration at a rate of $320,000 per annum, increasing 
to $380,000 per annum with effect from 1 September 
2009. Superannuation contributions by the Company 
were capped based on the statutory maximum earnings.  
With effect from 1 July 2010, Mr Calderwood’s total fixed 
remuneration (including basic salary, superannuation 
contributions, allowances and benefits) (“TFR”) has been 
increased to $600,000.  The Board has also approved a 
short term incentive of 25% of the TFR, payable in cash 
subject to successful achievement of performance targets 
which are yet to be determined at the date of this report.

Colin Carson has entered into an agreement with the 
Company to be employed as an Executive Director.  The 
contract commenced on 22 September 2004, which was 
the listing date of the Company on the ASX, and there is 
no specific termination date. During the year, Mr Carson 
received remuneration at a rate of $140,000 per annum, 
increasing to $180,000 per annum from 1 September 2009.  
On 1 October 2009, Mr Carson’s annual remuneration was 
reduced to $165,000 by mutual agreement. With effect 
from 1 July 2010, Mr Carson’s TFR has been increased 
to $300,000.  The Board has also approved a short term 
incentive of 25% of the TFR, payable in cash subject to 
successful achievement of performance targets which are 
yet to be determined at the date of this report.

Commencing in early July 2008, Rhett Brans’ services as 
an Executive Director have been provided to the Company 
at a fixed monthly rate, invoiced through his related entity, 
Proman Consulting Engineers Pty Ltd.  During the year 
Proman was paid the monthly equivalent of $145,000 
per annum increasing to $175,000 per annum with effect 
from 1 September 2009. With effect from 1 July 2010, Mr 
Brans’ TFR has been increased to $350,000 and, effective 
1 September 2010, his TFR has been increased to 
$437,500 as he has taken on a full time employment role 
with the Company.  The Board has also approved a short 
term incentive of 25% of the TFR, payable in cash subject 
to successful achievement of performance targets which 
are yet to be determined at the date of this report.

Company secretarial services provided by Mr Shah are 
charged to the Company by Corporate Consultants Pty 
Ltd (CCPL), a company in which Mr Shah has a beneficial 
interest.  Payments for accounting, company secretarial 
and administrative services provided by CCPL throughout 
the year are included in Note 25.

Jeffrey Quartermaine commenced in the role of Chief 
Financial Officer on 3 May 2010. His employment contract 
provides for annual remuneration of $360,000 including 
superannuation and a living away from home allowance 
of $40,000 per annum. Cash bonuses may be paid to Mr 
Quartermaine on the achievement of certain levels of 
performance. Mr Quartermaine’s employment contract may 
be terminated by either the Company or Mr Quartermaine 
by providing the other party with two months of notice 
in writing. Subject to certain events occurring within 
six months of a substantial change of ownership of the 
Company, Mr Quartermaine will be paid compensation of 
between six and twelve months of salary dependent on the 
time served with the Company at the time of the change of 
ownership. Subsequent to year end, Mr Quartermaine was 
granted 400,000 options under the Company’s Employee 
Option Plan, exerciseable at $2.45 each on or before 29 
July 2012.

Grant Pierce commenced in the role of General Manager 
Operations on 1 January 2010. His employment contract 
provides for remuneration of US$300,000 per annum. Mr 
Pierce’s employment contract may be terminated by either 
Mr Pierce or the Company providing the other party with 
three months of notice. Subject to certain events occurring 
within six months of a substantial change of ownership 
of the Company, Mr Pierce will be paid compensation 
of twelve months of salary. If Mr Pierce’s role is made 
redundant or his job content is materially reduced as a 
result of an act or omission by the Company, Mr Pierce 
will be paid an amount equal to six months of salary on his 
termination.

Kevin Thomson was appointed Regional Exploration 
Manager (West Africa) in April 2007. His employment 
contract currently provides for remuneration of 
CDN$280,000 per annum net of taxes, furnished 
accommodation in Accra, Ghana, use of a company vehicle, 
certain miscellaneous expatriate allowances.  Either party 
can terminate the agreement by giving the other party two 
months of written notice.
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Table 1 Directors’ and Senior Managers’ remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2010

	 Primary	 Post 	 Equity
						    
	 Salary / Fees	 Other	 Employment	 Value of	 Total	 Performance
			   Superannuation	 Options		  Related
	 $	 $	 $	 $	 $	 %

Directors 			   			 
Reginald Gillard			   				  
	 2010	 70,000	 -	 6,300	 -	 76,300	 -
	 2009	 56,667	 3,258	 5,100	 -	 65,025	 -

Mark Calderwood			   				  
	 2010	 370,000	 -	 25,000	 -	 395,000	 -
	 2009	 293,333	 3,258	 18,763	 -	 315,354	 -

Colin Carson			   				  
	 2010	 162,083	 -	 14,588	 -	 176,671	 -
	 2009	 113,333	 3,258	 10,200	 -	 126,791	 -

Rhett Brans 			   				  
	 2010	 216,833	 -	 -	 -	 216,833	 -
	 2009	 148,875	 3,258	 -	 88,323	 240,456	 -

Neil Fearis 			   				  
	 2010	 55,000	 -	 -	 -	 55,000	 -
	 2009	 51,250	 3,258	 -	 -	 54,508	 -

Sean Harvey			   				  
	 2010	 41,666	 -	 -	 738,346	 780,012	 -
	 2009	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -

Michael Bohm			   				  
	 2010	 35,416	 -	 3,188	 457,404	 496,008	 -
	 2009	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -

Directors Total			   				  
	 2010	 950,998	 -	 49,076	 1,195,750	 2,195,824	 -
	 2009 	 663,458	 16,290	 34,063	 88,323	 802,134	 -

Senior Managers						    
Susmit Shah (i)							     

	 2010	 -	 -	 -	 12,849	 12,849	 -
	 2009	 -	 -	 -	 149,578	 149,578	 -

Kevin Thomson (ii)				    			 
	 2010	 284,878	 43,982	 -	 37,524	 366,384	 -
	 2009	 251,047	 33,873	 -	 186,386	 471,306	 -

Jeffrey Quartermaine (iii)				    			 
	 2010	 50,000	 6,667	 4,167	 -	 60,834	 -
	 2009	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -

Grant Pierce (iv)				    			 
	 2010	 167,748	 3,500	 -	 883,025	 1,054,273	 -
	 2009	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Alexander Scott (v)							     

	 2010	 167,500	 -	 14,461	 7,556	 189,517	 -
	 2009	 155,000	 -	 13,745	 37,778	 206,523	 -

Senior Managers Total							     
	 2010	 670,126	 54,149	 18,628	 940,954	 1,683,857	 -
	 2009	 406,047	 33,873	 13,745	 373,742	 827,407	 -
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Notes:
(i)	 Company Secretarial services provided by Mr Shah are charged to the Company by CCPL, a company in which Mr Gillard 

and Mr Shah have a beneficial interest.  Remuneration for accounting, company secretarial and administrative services 
provided by CCPL throughout the year is included in Note 25.

(ii)	 Includes the value of non-cash benefits such as allowances for travel, school fees, and accommodation. Also in-country 
taxes paid on behalf of employee.  

(iii)	 Commenced on 3 May 2010.
(iv)	 Commenced on 1 January 2010.
(v)	 Resigned with effect from 27 July 2010.

  Table 2 - Options granted as part of remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2010

	 Value of 	 Value of options	 Value of	 Total value of	 Remuneration
	 options 	 exercised at	 options lapsed	 options granted,	 represented by	
 	 granted as 	 exercise date	 at time of lapse	 exercised and	 options for
				    lapsed	 the year
	 $	 $	 $	 $	 %	

Directors		
Reginald Gillard			   			 
	 2010	 -	 564,000	 -	 564,000	 -	
	 2009	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -		
Mark Calderwood			   			 
	 2010	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
	 2009	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -		
Colin Carson			   			 
	 2010	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
	 2009	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -		
Rhett Brans 			   			 
	 2010	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
	 2009	 88,323	 176,000	 -	 264,323	 36.7		
Neil Fearis 			   			 
	 2010	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
	 2009	 -	 142,500	 -	 142,500 	 -		
Sean Harvey			   			 
	 2010	 738,346	 -	 -	 738,346	 94.6	
	 2009	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -		
Michael Bohm			   			 
	 2010	 457,404	 -	 -	 457,404	 92.2	
	 2009	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -		
Total, all Directors			   			 
	 2010	 1,195,750	 564,000	 -	 1,759,750	 54.5	
	 2009	 88,323	 318,500	 -	 406,823	 11.0

Directors’ Report
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Table 2 - Options granted as part of remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2010 (continued)

	 Value of 	 Value of options	 Value of	 Total value of	 Remuneration
	 options 	 exercised at	 options lapsed	 options granted,	 represented by	
 	 granted as 	 exercise date	 at time of lapse	 exercised and	 options for
				    lapsed	 the year
	 $	 $	 $	 $	 %	

Senior Managers					    	
Susmit Shah						    
	 2010	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -
	 2009 	 162,427	 4,000	 -	 166,427	 -	
Kevin Thomson		  				  
	 2010	 518,397	 756,000	 -	 1,274,397	 9.3
	 2009 	 114,365	 -	 -	 114,365	 24.3

Jeffrey Quartermaine		  				  
	 2010	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -
	 2009 	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -

Grant Pierce		  				  
	 2010	 883,025	 -	 -	 883,025	 83.8
	 2009 	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -

Alexander Scott		  				  
	 2010	 -	 279,000	 -	 279,000	 -
	 2009 	 37,778	 -	 -	 37,778	 18.3

Total, Senior Managers						    
	 2010	 1,401,422	 1,035,000	 -	 2,436,422	 57.8
	 2009	 314,570	 4,000	 -	 318,570	 45.2

For details on the valuation of options, including models and assumptions used, refer to Note 18.
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PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings 
on behalf of the Company or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purposes of 
taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of the proceedings. No proceedings has been brought 
or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES

The Company’s auditor, HLB Mann Judd, provided services in relation to the Company’s various capital raisings in 
Canada during the financial year and also the process of listing on the Toronto Stock Exchange. Details of amounts 
paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor are outlined in Note 4 
to the financial statements. The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services is compatible with 
the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.

The Directors are of the opinion that the services do not compromise the auditor’s independence as all non-audit 
services have been reviewed to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor and none 
of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in Code of Conduct 
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards 
Board.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

The auditor, HLB Mann Judd, has provided the Board of Directors with an independence declaration in accordance 
with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001. The independence declaration is set out on the next page and 
forms part of this Directors’ Report.

AUDITOR

HLB Mann Judd continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors.

M A Calderwood

Managing Director
Perth, 28 September 2010

Directors’ Report
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HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership) is a member of  International, a worldwide organisation of accounting firms and business advisers. 
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
 
 
 
As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Perseus Mining Limited for the year ended 30 
June 2010, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions 
of: 
 
a) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit;  

and 
 
b) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 
This declaration is in respect of Perseus Mining Limited.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Perth, Western Australia 
28 September 2010 

M R W OHM  
Partner, HLB Mann Judd 
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	 CONSOLIDATED

		  Notes	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $

Revenue	 		  -	 -

Other income	 2	 5,750,412	 2,237,032

Professional fees	 	 (1,693,291)	 (739,019)

Employee benefits expense	 	 (1,860,300)	 (919,701)

Share based payments	 	 (3,594,491)	 (817,184)

Insurance	 		  (82,757)	 (53,223)

Depreciation and amortisation expense	 	 (294,601)	 (31,487)

Impairment reversal / (impairment) of  investments in associates	 	 212,435	 (3,330,819)

Write off of capitalised exploration expenditure	 	 (844,972)	 - 
Devaluation of gold put options	 12	 (5,041,788)	 -

Share of net losses of associate accounted for using the equity method	 	 (326,647)	 (327,682)

Other expenses 	 	 (2,005,000)	 (807,118)

Loss before income tax expense	 3	 (9,781,000)	 (4,789,201)

Income tax expense	 5	 -	 -

Loss after tax expense	 	 (9,781,000)	 (4,789,201)

Other comprehensive income	 		
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations	 	 (1,423,771)	 (5,556,116)

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income	 	 -	 -

Total comprehensive loss for the year	 	 (11,204,771)	 (10,345,317)

Loss attributable to:	 		
Owners of the parent	 	 (9,675,702)	 (4,789,201)

Non-controlling interests	 	 (105,298)	 -

			   (9,781,000)	 (4,789,201)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:	 		
Owners of the parent	 	 (11,103,723)	 (10,345,317)

Non-controlling interests	 	 (101,048)	 -

			   (11,204,771)	 (10,345,317)

Basic loss per share (cents)	 6	 (2.94)	 (2.53)

Basic loss per share from continuing operations (cents)	 6	 (2.94)	 (2.53)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2010
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	 CONSOLIDATED

		  Notes	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $

Current Assets	 		
Cash and cash equivalents	 8	 185,591,726	 79,876,095

Receivables		  9	 161,200	 679,780

Other		  10	 763,627	 79,042

Total Current Assets	 	 186,516,553	 80,634,917

Non-Current Assets	 		
Receivables		  9	 7,804,727	 2,696,149

Investments accounted for using the equity method	 11	 4,342,000	 2,500,000

Other financial assets	 12	 7,657,558	 -

Property, plant and equipment	 13	 114,602,591	 1,903,816

Exploration and evaluation expenditure	 14	 25,869,131	 58,167,962

Total Non-Current Assets	 	 160,276,007	 65,267,927

Total Assets	 	 346,792,560	 145,902,844

Current Liabilities	 		
Payables		  15	 23,226,856	 10,231,779

Total Current Liabilities	 	 23,226,856	 10,231,779

Non-Current Liabilities	 		
Provision		  15	 2,635,619	 2,874,196

Total Non-Current Liabilities	 	 2,635,619	 2,874,196

Total Liabilities	 	 25,862,475	 13,105,975

Net Assets		  	 320,930,085	 132,796,869

Equity	 		
Issued capital	 16	 346,615,812	 152,220,729

Reserves		  17	 (3,355,884)	 (7,087,776)

Accumulated losses	 17	 (22,011,786)	 (12,336,084)

Parent entity interest	 	 321,248,142	 132,796,869

Non-controlling interests	 	 (318,057)	 -

Total Equity			  320,930,085	 132,796,869

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2010
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2010
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	 CONSOLIDATED

		  Notes	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $

Cash Flows from Operating Activities	 		
	

Cash payments in the course of operations	 	 (4,905,520)	 (2,198,612)

Interest received	 	 1,849,419	 630,684

Other income	 	 -	 5,772

Net Cash used in Operating Activities	 22 (a)	 (3,056,101)	 (1,562,156)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities	 		
Payments for exploration and evaluation expenditure	 	 (26,289,177)	 (22,127,389)

Payments for acquisition of mineral interest	 	 -	 (193,408)

Payments for acquisition of fixed assets	 	 (1,418,660)	 (982,373)

Payments for acquisition of assets under construction	 	 (37,489,130)	 -

Payments for investment in put options	 	 (12,699,346)	 -

Payments for investment in associates	 	 (2,225,333)	 -

Receipts from related parties	 	 28,229	 769,225

Advances to third parties	 	 -	 36,177

Security deposit for bank guarantee 	 	 (5,025,691)	 (520,997)

Net Cash used in Investing Activities	 	 (85,119,108)	 (23,018,765)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities	 		
Proceeds from share issues	 	 200,482,440	 83,731,801

Proceeds from exercise of options	 	 3,990,000	 2,879,314

Share issue expenses	 	 (14,353,642)	 (2,060,335)

Net Cash provided by Financing Activities	 	 190,118,798	 84,550,780

Net Increase in Cash Held	 	 101,943,589	 59,969,859

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year	 	 79,876,095	 19,296,798

Cash within Group disposed of during the year	 	 -	 (143,307)

Effects of exchange rate fluctuations on the balances of cash held 

in foreign currencies	 	 3,772,042	 752,745

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the Financial Year	 8	 185,591,726	 79,876,095

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2010
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010

1.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)	 Basis of preparation

The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the 
Corporations Act 2001 and other requirements of the law and Australian equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (AIFRS).  The financial report has been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for available-
for-sale investments and certain financial instruments, which have been measured at fair value. 

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars.

The Company is a listed public company, incorporated and domiciled in Australia that has operated during the 
year in Australia, Ghana and Côte d’Ivoire. The entity’s principal activities are gold exploration, evaluation and 
development.

The Group has applied the revised AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements which became effective on  
1 January 2009.  The revised standard requires the separate presentation of a statement of comprehensive income 
and a statement of changes in equity.  All non-owner changes in equity must now be presented in the statement of 
comprehensive income.  As a consequence, the Group had to change the presentation of its financial statements.  
Comparative information has been re-presented so that it is also in conformity with the revised standard.

(b)	 Adoption of new and revised standards

Changes in accounting policies on initial application of Accounting Standards

In the year ended 30 June 2010, the Group has reviewed all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the AASB that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual reporting period.

During the year, certain accounting policies have changed as a result of new or revised accounting standards which 
became operative for the annual reporting period commencing on 1 July 2009. The affected policies and standards 
are:

(i)	 principles of consolidation – revised AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and 
changes made by AASB 2008-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Cost of an Investment 
in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity and Associate

(ii)	 business combinations – revised AASB 3 Business Combinations

(iii)	 segment reporting – new AASB 8 Operating Segments

(iv)	 financial Instruments – revised AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

(v)	 borrowing Costs – revised AASB 123 Borrowing Costs

The Group has also reviewed all Standards and Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective for 
the year ended 30 June 2010. As a result of this review, the Directors have determined that there is no impact, 
material or otherwise, of the new and revised standards and interpretations on its business and, therefore, no 
change necessary to Group accounting policies. 

(c)	 Statement of compliance

The financial report was authorised for issue on September 28 2010. It complies with Australian Accounting 
Standards, which include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). Compliance 
with AIFRS ensures that the financial report, comprising the financial statements and notes thereto, complies with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
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1.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued 

(d)	 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Perseus Mining Limited and its 
controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2010 (the “Group”). 

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent, using 
consistent accounting policies.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, income and 
expenses and profit and losses resulting from intra-group transactions have been eliminated in full. Subsidiaries are 
fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred out of the Group.  Control exists where the Company has the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The acquisition of subsidiaries has been accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The purchase 
method of accounting involves allocating the cost of the business combination to the fair value of assets acquired 
and the liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. Accordingly, the consolidated financial 
statements include the results of the subsidiaries for the period from their acquisition.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its subsidiaries are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
interests in subsidiaries. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to 
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by the Group and 
are presented separately in the statement of comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement 
of financial position. Losses are attributed to the non-controlling interests even if that results in a deficit balance.

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions 
with equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying 
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference 
between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interest and any consideration paid or received is 
recognised within equity attributable to owners of Perseus.

When the Group ceases to have control, joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is 
remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the 
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint 
controlled entity or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 
This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Changes in accounting policy

The Group has changed its accounting policy for transactions with non-controlling interests and the accounting for 
loss of control, joint control or significant influence from 1 July 2009 when a revised AASB 127 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements became operative.

Previously transactions with non-controlling interests were treated as transactions with parties external to the 
Group. Disposals therefore resulted in gains and losses in profit and loss and purchases resulted in the recognition 
of goodwill. On disposal or partial disposal, a proportionate interest of reserves attributable to the subsidiary was 
reclassified to profit or loss or directly to retained earnings.
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1.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued 

Previously when the Group ceased to have control, joint control or significant influence over an entity, the carrying 
amount of the investment at the date control, joint control or significant influence ceased became its cost for the 
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interests in associates, jointly controlled entity or financial 
assets.

(e)	 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The application of accounting policies requires the use of judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying 
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if it affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods 
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and assumptions of 
future events. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are:

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 

The Board of Directors determines when an area of interest should be abandoned. When a decision is made that an 
area of interest is not commercially viable, all costs that have been capitalised in respect of that area of interest are 
written off. The Directors’ decision is made after considering the likelihood of finding commercially viable reserves.

Assets under construction

The recoverability of mineral assets under construction has been reviewed by the Directors. In conducting the 
review the recoverable amount has been assessed by reference to the higher of “fair value less costs to sell” and 
“value in use”.  In determining value in use, future cash flows are based on: 

(i)	 estimates of ore reserves and mineral resources for which there is a high degree of confidence of 
economic extraction;

(ii)	 estimated production and sales levels;

(iii)	 estimate future commodity prices;

(iv)	 future costs of production;

(v)	 future capital expenditure; and/or

(vi)	 future exchange rates. 

Variations to expected future cash flows, and timing thereof, could result in significant changes to the impairment 
test results, which in turn could impact future financial results. 

Share-based payment transactions

The consolidated entity  measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees and consultants by 
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they were granted. The fair value of 
options granted is determined using a Black-Scholes model, using the assumptions detailed in Note 18.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010
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1.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued 

(f)	 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision maker.  The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors of Perseus Mining Limited.

Change in accounting policy

The Group has adopted AASB 8 Operating Segments from 1 July 2009. AASB 8 replaces AASB 114 Segment 
Reporting. The new standard requires a “management approach”, under which segment information is presented 
on the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes. This has not resulted in a change in the number of 
reportable segments presented by the Group as operating segments are reported in a manner that is consistent 
with internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.

(g)	 Foreign currency transactions and balances

The functional and presentation currency of the Company is Australian dollars. Each entity in the Group determines 
its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that 
functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the exchange rates ruling at 
the date of the transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All exchange differences in the consolidated financial report 
are taken to the income statement with the exception of differences on foreign currency borrowings that provide 
a hedge against a net investment in a foreign entity.  These are taken directly to equity until the disposal of a net 
investment, at which time they are recognised in the income statement. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date the fair value was determined.

The functional currencies of the Perseus Mining Limited’s overseas subsidiaries are as follows:

Jurisdiction	 Entity	 Functional Currency

Ghana	 Kojina Resources Limited	 United States dollars (USD)
	 Sun Gold Resources Limited	 United States dollars (USD)
	 Central Ashanti Gold Limited	 United States dollars (USD)

Côte d’Ivoire	 Occidental Gold Sarl	 CFA1 francs (XOF)

1. Communauté financière d’Afrique or Financial Community of Africa

During the year ended 30 June 2010, the functional currency of Kojina Resources Limited, Sun Gold Resources 
Limited and Central Ashanti Gold Limited was changed to United States dollars from Ghanaian Cedi with effect 
from 1 February 2010. This change was made principally to reflect changes in the primary economic environment in 
which the entities operate. In accordance with AASB 121, The Effects of the Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, 
the change has been applied prospectively from the date of change.
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1.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued 

As at the balance date, the assets and liabilities of these overseas subsidiaries are translated into the reporting 
currency of the Company at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance date and the statement of comprehensive 
income is translated at the average exchange rates for the period.  The exchange differences on the translation 
are taken directly to a separate component of equity where they are recognised in the foreign currency translation 
reserve.

On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity is recognised in the income 
statement.

(h)	 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the consolidated 
entity and the revenue is capable of being reliably measured. Interest income is recognised in the income statement 
as it accrues, using the effective interest method.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST) or its equivalent.

(i)	 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are capitalised that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
qualifying assets where the borrowing cost is added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are 
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

(j)	 Taxes

Income tax

Deferred income tax is provided for on all temporary differences at balance date between the tax base of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business 
combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or 
liability is settled.  Deferred tax is credited in the income statement except where it relates to items that may be 
credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted directly against equity.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future tax profits will be available 
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

The amount of benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the assumption that 
no adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the anticipation that the consolidated entity will 
derive sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefit to be realised and comply with the conditions of 
deductibility imposed by the law.  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance date and 
only recognised to the extent that sufficient future assessable income is expected to be obtained.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity 
and the same taxation authority.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010
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1.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued 

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of 
the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.

Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST. 

Cash flows are presented in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of 
investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority.

(k)	 Impairment testing of assets

The carrying amount of the consolidated entity assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  Where such an indication exists, 
a formal assessment of recoverable amount is then made and where the carrying amount is in excess of the 
recoverable amount, the asset is written down to its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  Value in use is the present value 
of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset or cash generating unit.  In estimating value in use, 
a pre-tax discount rate is used which reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. Any resulting impairment loss is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Impairment losses are reversed when there is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer exist and there 
has been a change in the estimate used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed 
only to the extent that the assets’ carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(l)	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.  

(m)	 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables, which generally have 30 to 90 day terms, are recognised and carried at original invoice amount 
less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. An allowance for doubtful debts is made when collection of 
the full amount is no longer probable. Impairment of trade receivables is continually reviewed and those that 
are considered to be uncollectible are written off by reducing the carrying amount directly.  The amount of the 
impairment loss is recognised in the income statement within other expenses.

(n)	 Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as put options and gold forward sales contracts to hedge its 
risks associated with gold price fluctuations. Put options are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which 
the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to fair value. Put options are carried as 
assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative.

Except where hedge accounting is adopted, any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives 
are taken directly to net profit or loss for the year.
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1.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued 

The fair value of gold forward sales contracts is calculated by reference to current forward sales prices for 
contracts with similar maturity profiles. Where forward contracts are entered into and continue to be held for 
the purpose of receipt or delivery of a physical commodity in accordance with expected purchase, sale or usage 
requirements, the contracts are outside of the scope of AASB 139 and are therefore off balance sheet. All of the 
Group’s current forwards portfolio is within expected sales and recorded off balance sheet.

Where a forward contract is within the scope of AASB129 the Group will seek to achieve hedge accounting. For 
the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

(i)	 fair value hedges when they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or 
liability; 

(ii)	 cash flow hedges when they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable either to a 
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or to a forecast transaction; or

(iii)	 hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship 
to which the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy for 
undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item 
or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the hedging instrument’s 
effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to 
the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value 
or cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been highly effective 
throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were designated.

Hedges that meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows:

Fair value hedges

Fair value hedges are hedges of the Group’s exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability 
or an unrecognised firm commitment, or an identified portion of such an asset, liability or firm commitment, that 
is attributable to a particular risk that could affect profit or loss.  For fair value hedges, the carrying amount of the 
hedged item is adjusted for gains and losses attributable to the risk being hedged, the derivative is remeasured 
to fair value and gains and losses from both are taken to profit or loss.

When an unrecognised firm commitment is designated as a hedged item, the subsequent cumulative change in 
the fair value of the firm commitment attributable to the hedged risk is recognised as an asset or liability with a 
corresponding gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. The changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument 
are also recognised in profit or loss.

The Group discontinues fair value hedge accounting if the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or 
exercised, the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or the Group revokes the designation. 
Any adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged financial instrument for which the effective interest method 
is used is amortised to profit or loss. Amortisation may begin as soon as an adjustment exists and shall begin no 
later than when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable to the risk being 
hedged.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010
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1.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued 

Cash flow hedges

Cash flow hedges are hedges of the Group’s exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular 
risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction and that could affect 
profit or loss. The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in equity, 
while the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss.

Amounts taken to equity are transferred to the income statement when the hedged transaction affects profit 
or loss, such as when hedged income or expenses are recognised or when a forecast sale or purchase occurs. 
When the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or liability, the amounts taken to equity are transferred 
to the initial carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability.

If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, amounts previously recognised in equity are transferred 
to profit or loss. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or 
rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, amounts previously recognised in equity remain in equity until 
the forecast transaction occurs. If the related transaction is not expected to occur, the amount is taken to profit 
or loss.

(o)	 Investments and other financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are classified as 
either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or 
available-for-sale investments, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at 
fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction 
costs. The consolidated entity determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, when 
allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year-end.

During the year, the consolidated entity has held loans and receivables and financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss.  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss where the financial asset:

(i)	 has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future;

(ii)	 is part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a 
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 

(iii)	 is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resulting gain or loss recognised 
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the 
financial asset.

Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or 
are not classified as financial assets held for trading (“financial assets at fair value”), investments intended to be 
held to maturity or loans and receivables. 
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1.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued 

After initial recognition available-for-sale investments are measured at fair value with gains or losses being 
recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment is derecognised or until the investment is 
determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is recognised 
in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses 
are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through 
the amortisation process.

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference 
to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For investments with no active 
market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s length 
market transactions; reference to the current market value of another instrument that is substantially the same; 
discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models.

(p)	 Investment in associated entities 

The Group’s investments in associated entities are accounted for using the equity method of accounting in the 
consolidated financial statements. An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence and which 
is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture.

Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost plus 
post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. Goodwill relating to an associate is 
included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not amortised. After application of the equity method, the 
Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any additional impairment loss with respect to the Group’s 
net investment in the associate. The consolidated income statement reflects the Group’s share of the results of 
operations of the associate.

Where there has been a change recognised directly in the associate’s equity, the Group recognises its share of any 
changes and discloses this in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The reporting dates of the associate and the Group are identical and the associate’s accounting policies conform to 
those used by the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010 
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1.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued 

(q)	 Joint ventures

Joint venture interests are incorporated in the financial statements by including the consolidated entity’s proportion 
of joint venture assets and liabilities under the appropriate headings.

Where part of a joint venture is farmed out and in consideration the incoming party undertakes to carry out further 
expenditure in the joint venture area of interest, expenditure incurred prior to farm out is carried forward without 
adjustment unless the terms of the farm out indicate that the expenditure carried forward is excessive based on the 
diluted interest retained.  Provision is then made to reduce expenditure carried forward to a recoverable amount.  

Any cash received in consideration for farming out part of a joint venture interest is treated as a reduction in the 
carrying value of the related mineral property.

(r)	 Property, plant and equipment

Items of plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see (k) above).

Assets under construction

Where a decision has been made to proceed with development in respect of a particular area of interest, the 
relevant exploration and evaluation asset is tested for impairment and the balance is then reclassified as ‘assets 
under construction’, and this is disclosed as a component of property, plant and equipment. 

All subsequent expenditure incurred in the construction of a mine by or on behalf of, the Group is accumulated 
separately for each area of interest in which economically recoverable reserves have been identified. This 
expenditure includes net direct costs of construction and borrowing costs capitalised during construction and is 
classified as ‘assets under construction’, which is disclosed as a component of property, plant and equipment. On 
completion of development, all assets included in ‘assets under construction’ are reclassified as either ‘plant and 
equipment’ or ‘other mineral assets’.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment acquired is initially recorded at its cost of acquisition at the date of acquisition, being the 
fair value of the consideration provided plus incidental costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Subsequent 
costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the consolidated entity and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during 
the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation

All assets have limited useful lives and are depreciated using the straight line method over their estimated useful 
lives commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use, using the following rates:

Item	 Estimated	 Straight Line
	 Useful Life 	 Depreciation Rate
	 (years)	 per annum

Plant and Machinery	 5	 20.0%
Freehold Land and Buildings	 20	 5.0%
Field Equipment	 5	 20.0%
Furniture and Fittings	 8	 12.5%
Motor Vehicles 	 5	 20.0%
Office Equipment	 8	 12.5%



50

1.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued 

Depreciation and amortisation rates and methods are reviewed annually for appropriateness.  When changes are 
made, adjustments are reflected prospectively in current and future periods only.  The estimated useful lives used 
in the calculation of depreciation for plant and equipment for the current and corresponding period are between 
three and ten years.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount.  These gains and 
losses are included in the income statement.  When re-valued assets are sold, amounts included in the revaluation 
reserve relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings.

(s)	 Exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and evaluation expenditures in relation to each separate area of interest are recognised as an exploration 
and evaluation asset in the year in which they are incurred where the following conditions are satisfied:

(i)	 the rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and

(ii)	 at least one of the following conditions is also met:

(a)	 the exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful 
development and exploration of the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale; or

(b)	 exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting date reached 
a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically 
recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest 
are continuing.

Exploration and evaluation assets are initially measured at cost and include acquisition of rights to explore, 
studies, exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling and associated activities and an allocation of depreciation 
and amortisation of assets used in exploration and evaluation activities. General and administrative costs are only 
included in the measurement of exploration and evaluation costs where they are related directly to operational 
activities in a particular area of interest.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the 
carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 
of the exploration and evaluation asset (for the cash generating unit(s) to which it has been allocated being no larger 
than the relevant area of interest) is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where an 
impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of 
its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in previous years.

Where a decision has been made to proceed with development in respect of a particular area of interest, the 
relevant exploration and evaluation asset is tested for impairment and the balance is then reclassified as ‘assets 
under construction’, and is disclosed as a component of property, plant and equipment. 

(t)	 Trade and other payables

Trade payables and other payables are carried at cost and represent liabilities for goods and services provided to 
the consolidated entity prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the consolidated entity 
becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010



51

1.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued 

(u)	 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.  Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.  Fees 
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is 
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down 
occurs.  To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, 
the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which 
it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expired.  The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished 
or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 

(v)	 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

(w)	 Rehabilitation provision

A provision for restoration and rehabilitation is recognised when there is a present obligation as a result of 
development activities undertaken, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably. The estimated future obligations include 
the costs of abandoning sites, removing facilities and restoring the affected areas. 

The provision for future restoration costs is the best estimate of the present value of the expenditure required 
to settle the restoration obligation at the balance date. Future restoration costs are reviewed annually and any 
changes in the estimate are reflected in the present value of the restoration provision at each balance date.

The initial estimate of the restoration and rehabilitation provision is capitalised into the cost of the related asset 
and amortised on the same basis as the related asset, unless the present obligation arises from the production 
of inventory in the period, in which case the amount is included in the cost of production for the period. Changes 
in the estimate of the provision for restoration and rehabilitation are treated in the same manner, except that 
the unwinding of the effect of discounting on the provision is recognised as a finance cost rather than being 
capitalised into the cost of the related asset.

(x)	 Employee benefits

Wages, salaries and annual leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled within 
12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ services up to the 
reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Contributions are made by the consolidated entity to superannuation funds as stipulated by statutory requirements 
and are charged as expenses when incurred.
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1.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued 

(y)	 Share-based payment transactions

Equity settled transactions

The consolidated entity provides benefits to employees, consultants and contractors of the consolidated entity 
in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over 
shares (equity-settled transactions).

There is currently an Employee Option Plan in place to provide these benefits to employees, consultants and 
contractors.

The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined using a Black-Scholes model, 
further details of which are given in Note 18.

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions 
linked to the price of the shares of the Company (market conditions) if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the 
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant 
employees become fully entitled to the award (the vesting period).

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects: 

(i)	 the extent to which the vesting period has expired; and 

(ii)	 the consolidated entity’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. 

No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance conditions being met as the effect of these 
conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant date. The income statement charge or credit for 
a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions 
linked to the price of the shares of the Company (market conditions) if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the 
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant 
employees become fully entitled to the award (the vesting period).

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects 
(i) the extent to which the vesting period has expired and (ii) the consolidated entity’s best estimate of the number 
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance 
conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant date. 
The income statement charge or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised 
as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is only conditional 
upon a market condition.

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had 
not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of 
the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at the date of 
modification.
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1.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued 

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not 
yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled 
award and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are 
treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of 
earnings per share (see Note 6).

Share based payment transactions with parties other than employees and contractors are measured by reference 
to the fair value of the good or services rendered at the date of which the consolidated entity obtains the goods or 
the counterparty renders services.

Issued capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(z)	 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing the net result attributable to members of the Parent, adjusted 
to exclude costs of servicing equity (other than dividends), by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, 
adjusted for any bonus element.

Diluted earnings per share is determined by dividing the net result attributable to members, adjusted to exclude 
costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and any expenses associated with dividends and interest of dilutive 
potential ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares (both issued and potentially dilutive) 
adjusted for any bonus element.
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2.	 REVENUE		
	 CONSOLIDATED

		  	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $

Finance revenue - interest income	 	 1,876,020	 700,633

Gain on disposal of investments	 	 -	 832,925

Other income	 	 51,905	 11,542

Foreign currency exchange gains	 	 3,822,487	 691,932

			  	 5,750,412	 2,237,032	
		

3. 	 LOSS FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

Loss from ordinary activities before income tax has been determined after:	 		

Expenses	 		
Depreciation of plant and equipment	 	 294,601	 31,487

(Impairment reversal) / impairment of investments in associates	 	 (212,435)	 3,330,819

Share based payments to directors and employees	 	 3,594,491	 817,184

Share based payments to consultants	 	 -	 24,000

Defined contribution superannuation expense	 	 84,402	 50,912

Other expenses include:	 		
Bank Fees	 			  90,069	 39,718

Corporate promotion and advertising	 	 190,289	 36,261

Conferences and seminars	 	 94,136	 19,059

Legal expenses	 	 297,212	 11,372

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment	 	 -	 42,437

Printing and stationery	 	 75,696	 30,370

Travel and accommodation	 	 672,893	 107,161

4.	 AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION			 

Amounts received or due and receivable by HLB Mann Judd for:	 		
	 An audit or review of the financial report of the entity and  

	any other entity in the Group		  46,200	 39,800

	 Non-statutory audit services in relation to the entity and  
any other entity in the Group		  48,500	 -

				   94,700	 39,800

Amounts received or due and receivable by non HLB Mann Judd audit firms:	

		 An audit or review of the financial report of subsidiaries		  156,198	 70,559	
					  

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010
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5.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE	 		
	 CONSOLIDATED

		  	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $

(a)	 The prima facie tax benefit at 30% on loss from ordinary activities is
	 reconciled to the income tax provided in the financial statements as follows:	

	 Loss/(profit) from ordinary activities	 9,781,000	 4,789,201

	 Prima facie income tax benefit @ 30%	 2,934,300	 1,436,760

	 Tax effect of permanent differences:	

	      Provision for non-recovery of loans and write- down in  
investments in associates	 63,731	 (999,246)

Foreign exchange gains / (losses) not deductible	 -	 (129,414)

Share based payments to consultants and employees 	 (1,078,348)	 (252,355)

Capitalised exploration expenses	 7,746,364	 7,353,364

Share issue costs amortised	 1,200,234	 484,837

Other non-deductible items	 (377,178)	 (119,827)

	 Income tax benefit / (expense) adjusted for permanent differences	 10,489,103	 7,774,119

	 Deferred tax asset not brought to account	 (10,489,103)	 (7,774,119)

	 Income tax attributable to operating losses	 -	 -

			 

 (b)	 The potential deferred tax asset arising from tax losses and temporary 

	 differences have not been recognised as an asset because recovery of 

	 tax losses is not yet considered sufficiently probable.

	 Australian tax losses	 2,940,459	 765,685

The tax benefits will only be obtained if the conditions in Note 1 (Income taxes) are satisfied and if:

(a)	 the consolidated entity derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the 
benefit from the deductions for the losses to be realised;

(b)	 the consolidated entity continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by the relevant tax 
legislation; and

(c)	 no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the consolidated entity in realising the benefit from the deductions 
for losses.

For the purposes of income tax, the Company and its 100%-owned Australian subsidiaries have not formed a tax 
consolidated group. Tax consolidation is not expected to have a material effect on the consolidated entity’s deferred 
tax asset.  
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6.	 EARNINGS PER SHARE
	 CONSOLIDATED

		  2010	 2010	 2009	 2009
		  $	 cents	 $	 cents

Basic loss per share from continuing operations	 (9,781,000)	 (2.94)	 (4,789,201)	 (2.53)

Basic loss per share	 (9,781,000)	 (2.94)	 (4,789,201)	 (2.53)

				  
		  	 2010	 	 2009
		  	 Number	 	 Number
Weighted average number of ordinary 

shares used in the calculation of basic 

earnings per share	 	 332,557,987	 	 189,542,834

The Company’s potential ordinary shares, being its options granted, are not considered dilutive as the conversion of these 
options would result in a decrease in the net loss per share.

7.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group primarily reports on a geographical basis as its risks and rates of return are affected predominantly by 
differences in geographical areas in which it operates and this is the format of the information provided to the chief 
operating decision maker.

The Group operated principally in two geographical segments during the year, these being Australia and West Africa. The 
segment information is prepared in conformity with the accounting policies described in Note 1. 

The Group comprises the following main segments:

Australia		  Investing activities and corporate management.

West Africa	 Minerals exploration, evaluation and development activities.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010
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8.		  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS				  
	 CONSOLIDATED

		  	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $

Cash assets	 	 69,835,883	 367,156

Short term deposits 	 115,755,843	 79,508,939

	 185,591,726	 79,876,095

-	 Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.
-	 Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and six 
	 months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, 
	 and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.			 

	

9.	 RECEIVABLES		
	

Current		  	
Sundry debtors (i)	 161,200	 679,780		 	
Non-current		  	
Security deposit (ii) & (iii)	 7,804,727	 2,696,149			

(i)	 Trade and sundry debtors are non-interest bearing and generally on 30 day terms.

(ii)	 At 30 June 2010, the Company has US$2.25 million (approximately AU$2.6million) held in bank deposits which are 
subject to a lien and is collateral for a bank guarantee that has been issued to the Ghana Environmental Protection 
Agency in relation to environmental rehabilitation provisions concerning the Central Ashanti Gold Project.

(iii)	 At 30 June 2010, the Company has US$4.41 million (approximately AU$5.15 million)  held in bank deposits which 
are held as collateral against an international trade facility under which the Company can request the provision of 
Letters of Credit to contractors for the procurement of certain goods required in the construction of the Central 
Ashanti Gold Project.			 
			  	

10.		  OTHER	 	
	

Prepayments	 763,627	 79,042	

	 		

11.	 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
		  		
	 Ownership interest	 Published fair value	
		
Name of associated entity	 Principal activity	 Country of	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009 
		  incorporation	 %	 %	 $	 $	
	  
Manas Resources Limited	 Gold Exploration	 Australia	 27.9	 42.0	 2,950,000	 2,500,000

Burey Gold Limited	 Gold Exploration	 Australia	 19.9	 -	 1,774,800	 -	

		
Manas Resources Limited (“Manas”)
On 21 July 2008, the Company completed the Sale and Purchase of the shares held by Perseus in subsidiaries incorporated 
in the Kyrgyz Republic and the assignment of outstanding loans owed by those subsidiaries to Perseus, to Manas in 
exchange for the issue of 25,000,000 shares and 12,500,000 options in Manas. In July 2009, Perseus subscribed for a 
further 8,333,334 new shares in Manas and 4,166,667 attaching options to acquire shares under a pro-rata entitlement 
offer at a total cost of $833,333.  As a consequence of the issue of shares by Manas, Perseus’ interest in the issued 
shares of the company decreased from 42.0% to 27.9%.  

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010
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11.		  INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD - continued

	 CONSOLIDATED

		  	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $

Investment in associated entity – Manas Resources Limited	 2,950,000	 2,500,000	
	

Reconciliation of movements in investments accounted for  
using the equity method:			 
Balance at 1 July	 2,500,000	 -	
Investment in associate at cost	 833,333	 5,932,840	
Share of loss for the year	 (326,647)	 (327,682)	
Share of reserves of associate	 (269,121)	 225,661	
Impairment reversal / (impairment) of investment	 212,435	 (3,330,819)

Balance at 30 June	 2,950,000	 2,500,000	
		

Summarised financial information of associate:	 	
Financial Position	 	
Total assets	 14,591,399	 10,645,218

Total liabilities	 191,464	 151,719

Net assets	 14,399,935	 10,493,499

Group’s share of associates’ net assets	 4,020,462	 4,407,270

Financial Performance	 	
Total revenue	 94,867	 324,555

Total loss for the year	 1,169,939	 779,880

Group’s share of associates’ loss	 326,647	 327,682

Capital commitments and contingent liabilities of associate	 -	 -

Share of capital commitments incurred jointly with other investors	 -	 -

Share of contingent liabilities incurred jointly with other investors	 -	 -

Burey Gold Limited (“Burey”)

On 3 March 2010, the Company announced that that it had entered into an agreement to purchase a 19.9% stake in and 
enter into a strategic alliance with Burey an exploration company with a focus in Guinea, West Africa.  Perseus completed 
an initial investment of $418,700 by subscribing for 10,400,000 shares in Burey with 10,400,000 attaching options on  
15 March 2010 and subsequently subscribed for a further 24,300,000 shares at a cost of $973,300 with 24,300,000 
attaching options on 29 June 2010.   Perseus has also obtained first rights of refusal over the sale or farm-out of Burey’s 
mineral properties in West Africa.  

The attaching options to acquire shares in Burey have the following terms:
Number of options	 Exercise Price	 Maturity Date	 				  
39,800,0001	 $0.05	 30 June 2011	 			 
1In the event that these options are exercised, additional “piggy-back” options will be granted as follows:			
Number of options	 Exercise Price	 Maturity Date	 				  
39,800,000	 $0.08	 31 December 2012
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11.		  INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD - continued

Although Perseus owns less than 20% of the issued shares of Burey, it is considered that the Company is in a position 
to exert significant influence as it has:

(a)	 first right of refusal in relation to any sale or farm-out of Burey’s mineral properties in West Africa; 

(b)	 the right to provide technical input into exploration programs in relation to Burey’s mineral properties in West 
Africa; and 

(c)	 considered the existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable when assessing 
the matter of significant influence. As a result of the share subscriptions, Perseus has received 34,800,000 
attaching options and in the event that these options are exercised, an additional “piggy-back” option will be 
issued for each option that is exercised. The options received are exercisable immediately and any “piggy-back” 
options that will be received are also exercisable immediately. 

The Company has assessed all facts and circumstances that affect potential rights except the intention of management 
and the financial ability to exercise or convert. As a result of this assessment, it has been concluded that its potential 
voting rights lead to the existence of significant influence and therefore is required to use the equity method in accounting 
for its investment in Burey. 

Since the second tranche of Burey shares was acquired on 29 June 2010, the period for which Perseus was entitled to 
equity account for its investment in Burey would not have given rise to any material change to the value of the asset.

	 CONSOLIDATED

		  	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $

Investment in associated entity  - Burey Gold Limited	 1,392,000	 -

Reconciliation of movements in investments accounted for 

using the equity method:

Balance at 1 July	 -	 -

Investment in associate at cost	 1,392,000	 -

Share of loss for the year	 -	 -

Share of reserves of associate	 -	 -

Impairment reversal / (impairment) of investment	 -	 -

Balance at 30 June	 1,392,000	 -

Summarised financial information of associate:

Financial Position

Total assets	 7,362,018	 -

Total liabilities	 157,110	 -

Net assets	 7,204,908	 -

Group’s share of associates’ net assets	 1,430,895	 -

Financial Performance

Total Revenue	 39,371	   -

Total loss for the year 	 (495,910)	 -

Group’s share of associates’ loss	 -	 -

Capital commitments and contingent liabilities of associate	 -	 -

Share of capital commitments incurred jointly with other investors	 -	 -

Share of contingent liabilities incurred jointly with other investors	 -	 -

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010
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12.	 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
	 CONSOLIDATED

		  	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $

Derivatives that are designated and effective as hedging 
instruments carried at fair value:	 	

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	 (i)	 7,657,558	 -			

(i) Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:
On 26 August 2009, Perseus purchased a strip of Bullion Options pursuant to which the Company has the right but not 
the obligation to sell a total of 100,000 ounces of gold to counterparties at a fixed price of US$850 per ounce in twelve 
equal monthly amounts commencing on 27 January 2012 and ending on 27 December 2012. The put options were 
purchased for a consideration of US$9,140,000 (AU$10,888,730) against which a devaluation of AU$5,020,810 and a 
foreign exchange loss of AU$88,814 have been recorded.

On 13 May 2010, Central Ashanti Gold Limited purchased a strip of Bullion Options pursuant to which the Company has 
the right but not the obligation to sell a total of 20,000 ounces of gold to counterparties at a fixed price of US$1,100 per 
ounce in six equal monthly amounts commencing on 28 July 2011 and ending on 28 December 2011. The put options 
were purchased for a consideration of US$1,661,832 (AU$1,820,521) against which a devaluation of AU$20,978 has 
been recorded and a foreign currency translation movement of AU$78,909 has been recorded.		
	
	 CONSOLIDATED

		  	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $
	

13.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT	 							      		

Plant and equipment - at cost(i)	 3,664,096	 2,468,577
Accumulated depreciation	 (764,181)	 (564,761)

	 2,899,915	 1,903,816
Assets under construction (Central Ashanti Gold Project) - at cost(ii)			 

Acquisition	 4,770,961	 - 
Exploration	 42,084,800	 -
Evaluation	 5,375,397	 - 
Construction	 59,471,518	 -	

	 111,702,676	 -

Total property, plant and equipment net book value	 114,602,591	 1,903,816		
Reconciliation of Plant and Equipment:			 
Balance at the beginning of the year	 1,903,816	 1,259,827	
Additions	 1,418,660	 1,305,337	
Depreciation	 (294,601)	 (31,487)	
Depreciation capitalised 	 (58,673)	 (264,461)
Assets written off	 -	 (42,437)	
Translation difference movement	 (69,287)	 (322,963)

Carrying amount at the end of the year	 2,899,915	 1,903,816			
Reconciliation of Assets under construction:
Balance at the beginning of the year	 -	 -
Additions	 57,904,841	 -
Reclassification from exploration and evaluation	 53,355,156	 -	
Translation difference movement	 442,679	 -

Carrying amount at the end of the year	 111,702,676	 -	
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13.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Note that during the year:
(i)	 recoverable amount was estimated for certain items of property, plant and equipment. No impairment loss was 

recognised to reduce the carrying amount of certain of those assets to recoverable amount; 
(ii)	 in accordance with Note 1(s), the following balances were reclassified from Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure to 

Property, Plant and Equipment.

14.		  EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE

	 CONSOLIDATED

		  	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $

Mineral interest acquisition, exploration and evaluation 	 	
  Purchase of mineral interests	 -	 3,442,619

  Exploration	 24,171,818	 50,707,394

  Evaluation	 1,697,313	 4,017,949

Carrying amount at the end of the year	 25,869,131	 58,167,962

		
	

Reconciliation:		

Balance at the beginning of the year	 58,167,962	 36,971,268

Purchase price for mineral interests	 -	 3,442,619

Expenditure incurred during the period	 25,018,152	 24,511,214

Costs written-off	 (844,972)	 -

Transferred to Property, Plant and Equipment	 (53,355,156)	 -

Translation difference movement	 (3,116,855)	 (6,757,139)

Carried forward	 25,869,131	 58,167,962

The expenditure above relates principally to the exploration and evaluation phase. The ultimate recoupment of this 
expenditure is dependent upon the successful development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the 
respective areas of interest.  			 

An assessment of the recoverable amount for capitalised exploration has resulted in a write off being recognised of 
$844,972 which relates to expenditure incurred on specific exploration properties located in Ghana.  The write off of 
$844,972 has been recognised in profit and loss. The recoverable amount was based on an assessment of the prospects 
of recoupment of this expenditure through the successful development and commercial exploitation of the respective 
properties and was determined at the cash-generating unit level. The cash-generating units were the Company’s Ghanaian 
subsidiaries, Sun Gold Resources Limited and Central Ashanti Gold Limited. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010
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15.		  PAYABLES AND PROVISIONS	 		
	 CONSOLIDATED

		  	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $

Current			 
Trade creditors and accruals (i)	 23,053,160	 7,027,498

Amount due for acquisition of subsidiary entity (ii)	 -	 3,140,000

Provision for employee benefits	 173,696	 64,281

	 23,226,856	 10,231,779

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:	 		
(i)	 Trade and other creditors are non-interest bearing and are normally 
	 settled on 30 day terms.		

(ii)	 The Company announced the Central Ashanti Gold Project had exceeded 
	 500,000 ounces of Proven and Probable Reserves on 30 July 2009 
	 requiring the issue of 2,000,000 shares and 2,000,000 options   

exercisable at 60 cents each on or before 13 August 2011 as further 
purchase consideration payable for the (2007 acquisition of wholly 
owned subsidiary, CAGL, the holder of the Central Ashanti Gold Project. 
As the announcement of the reserves provided evidence of conditions 

	 which existed at the reporting date, the amount was recorded as a 
	 liability at the balance date of 30 June 2009.  Purchase consideration of 
	 $3,140,000 is based on the shares valued at market price and the 
	 options valued using the Black-Scholes valuation methodology. 

	
Non-Current		

Provision for rehabilitation work	 2,635,619	 2,874,196

Balance at the beginning of the year	 2,874,196	 2,340,094

Arising during the year	 -	 -

Translation difference movement	 (238,577)	 534,102

Balance at the end of the year	 2,635,619	 2,874,196

The provision for rehabilitation work relates to the Central Ashanti Gold Project area in Ghana and forms part of the 
liabilities of CAGL at the time of its acquisition by the consolidated entity. The obligation arises as a result of gold mining 
previously conducted on the project area by the former owner, AngloGold Ashanti (Ghana) Ltd (“AGC”). The timing of 
settlement of this provision cannot be established with any certainty at this time.  During the course of operating the 
Central Ashanti Gold Mine many of the old pits identified for rehabilitation work will be subject to new mining requiring 
new rehabilitation plans to be drawn up for the disturbed area, with the work carried out over the life of the mine.  	
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16.	 ISSUED CAPITAL 	 				   	 				  
	 CONSOLIDATED

		  2010	 2009
		  $	 $

(a) 	 Issued and paid-up share capital	 				  
418,032,088 (2009: 298,457,088) ordinary shares, fully paid	         346,615,812	                       152,220,729	

	
	 CONSOLIDATED

		  2010	 	 2009
		  $	 Number	 $	 Number

Balance at the beginning of the year	 152,220,729	 298,457,088	 69,679,727	 174,354,267

Share placements at issue price of $0.50  on 28 January 2009	 -	 -	 8,500,000	 17,000,000

Share placements at issue price of $0.82  on 22 June 2009	 -	 -	 58,302,000	 71,100,000

Rights issue at issue price of $0.82 each on 22 June 2009	 -	 -	 16,929,801	 20,646,099

Shares issued pursuant to exercise of options	 -	 -	 2,871,034	 13,895,168

Shares issued to Vendor on 27 February 2009 as part 
consideration for purchase of the Company’s interest 
in the Central Ashanti Gold Project, net of loan settlement.	 -	 -	 425,606	 1,461,554

Shares issued pursuant to exercise of options	 3,990,000	 5,975,000	 -	 -

Shares issued to Vendor on 13 August 2009 as part 
consideration for purchase of the Company’s interest 
in the Central Ashanti Gold Project.	 1,850,000	 2,000,000	 -	 -

Share placements at issue price of $1.50  on 4 November 2009	 23,400,000	 15,600,000	 -	 -

Shares issued following exercise of Subscription Receipts	 36,402,770	 23,400,000	 -	 -

Share placements at issue price of $1.94  on 4 May 2010	 97,998,877	 50,600,000	 -	 -

Share placements at issue price of $1.94  on 31 May 2010	 3,728,000	 1,921,663	 -	 -

Share placements at issue price of $1.94  on 3 June 2010	 29,100,000	 15,000,000	 -	 -

Shares issued pursuant to Share Purchase Plan at issue 
price of $1.94  on 11 June 2010	 9,851,974	 5,078,337	 -	 -

Transaction costs arising from issue of securities for cash	 (11,926,538)	 -	 (4,487,439)	

Balance at the end of the year	 346,615,812	 418,032,088	 152,220,729	 298,457,088

										        

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010
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16.	 ISSUED CAPITAL - continued	 				  
(b) 	 Share Options

Options to subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company have been granted as follows:

					     Options	 Closing
			   Opening		  Exercised/	 Balance

Exercise		  Exercise	 Balance	 Options	 Cancelled/	 30 June
Period	 Note	 Price	 1 July 2009	 Issued	 Expired	 2010

			   Number	 Number	 Number	 Number
On or before 30 November 2009	 	 $0.40	 2,250,000	 -	 (2,250,000)	 -
On or before 31 December 2009	 	 $0.80	 1,000,000	 -	 (1,000,000)	 -
On or before 1 April 2010	 	 $0.50	 525,000	 -	 (525,000)	 -
On or before 31 July 2010	 	 $1.50	 3,800,000	 -	 (600,000)	 3,200,000
On or before 31 December 2010	 	 $1.00	 1,000,000	 -	 -	 1,000,000
On or before 30 June 2011	 	 $1.00	 600,000	 -	 -	 600,000
On or before 23 January 2012	 	 $0.65	 2,520,000	 -	 (1,250,000)	 1,270,000
On or before 13 August 2011	 (i)	 $0.60	 -	 2,000,000	 (200,000)	 1,800,000
On or before 29 September 2012	 (ii)	 $1.30	 -	 150,000	 (150,000)	 -
On or before 31 March 2012	 (iii)	 $1.80	 -	 400,000	 -	 400,000
On or before 31 March 2012	 (iv)	 $1.30	 -	 600,000	 -	 600,000
On or before 14 January 2012	 (v)	 $2.13	 -	 1,800,000	 -	 1,800,000
On or before 16 June 2013	 (vi)	 $2.13	 -	 1,330,000	 -	 1,330,000

			   11,695,000	 6,280,000	 (5,975,000)	 12,000,000	
	
Notes:

(i)	 2,000,000 options were issued as further consideration for the acquisition of the shares in CAGL.
(ii)	 150,000 options were issued under the terms of the Perseus Mining Limited Employee Option Plan.
(iii)	 400,000 options were issued on 15 October 2009 to a newly appointed Director as a condition of his engagement.
(iv)	 600,000 options were issued to a Director in accordance with shareholder approval granted at the Annual General 

Meeting held on 27 November 2009.
(v)	 1,800,000 options were issued under the terms of the Perseus Mining Limited Employee Option Plan.

(vi)	 1,330,000 options were issued under the terms of the Perseus Mining Limited Employee Option Plan.

(c)	 Terms and conditions of issued capital

Ordinary Shares
Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up of the Company, to 
participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on 
shares held.  Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the Company.
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17.	 ACCUMULATED LOSSES AND RESERVES

Accumulated losses

Movements in accumulated losses were as follows:
	 CONSOLIDATED

		  	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $

Balance at beginning of financial year	 (12,336,084)	 (7,546,883)

Loss attributable to the owners of the Parent	   (9,675,702)	 (4,789,201)

Balance at end of financial year	 (22,011,786)	 (12,336,084)

Nature and purpose of reserves 

Share Based Payments Reserve

The share based payments reserve is used to record the fair value of options issued but not exercised. 

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of foreign operations where their functional currency is different to the presentation currency of the 
reporting entity.

Non-controlling Interest’s Reserve

The non-controlling interest’s reserve records the difference between the fair value of the amount by which the non-
controlling interests were adjusted to record their initial relative interest and the consideration paid.

18.	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PLANS

Employee Share Option Plan

In November 2005, the Company adopted the Perseus Mining Limited Employee Option Plan (“Plan”).  The Plan is 
designed to provide incentives, assist in the recruitment, reward, retention of employees and provide opportunities for 
employees (both present and future) to participate directly in the equity of the Company.  The contractual life of each 
option granted is three years. There are no cash settlement alternatives.  The Plan does not allow for the issue of options 
to Directors of the Company.   

Non Plan based payments

The Company also makes share-based payments to consultants and/or service providers from time to time, not under 
any specific plan.  The expense recognised in the income statement in relation to share-based payments is disclosed in 
Note 3.

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices of and movements in share options 
issued during the year under the Plan:

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010
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	 2010	 2010 Weighted	 2009	 2009
	 Number of 	 average	 Number of	 Weighted
	 options	 exercise price	 options	 average
				    exercise price

Outstanding at the beginning of the year	 3,195,000	 $0.63	 3,515,000	 $0.85
Granted during the year	 3,130,000	 $2.13	 2,820,000	 $0.70
Forfeited during the year	 -	 -	 (2,440,000)	 $1.13
Exercised during the year	 (1,925,000)	 $0.61	 (700,000)	 $0.26
Expired during the year	 -	 -	 -	 -

Outstanding at the end of the year	 4,400,000	 $1.70	 3,195,000	 $0.63

Exercisable at the end of the year	 3,070,000	 -	 525,000	 -

The outstanding balance as at 30 June 2010 is represented by:

	 Number	 Exercise period 	 Exercise price	

	 1,270,000	 23/07/2009 to 23/01/2012 	 $0.65
	 1,800,000	 15/01/2010 to 14/01/2012 	 $2.13
	 1,330,000	 17/06/2011 to 16/06/2013 	 $2.13

	 4,400,000		

Other share-based payments, not under any plans, are as follows (with additional information provided in Note 16 above):

	 2010	 2010	 2009	 2009
	 Number	 $	 Number	 $

Options to directors as part of their 
remuneration arrangements	 1,000,000	 1,195,750	 600,000	 88,323				  
Options issued as initial consideration for the 
purchase of the Central Ashanti Gold  asset	 -	 -	 2,500,000	 396,750				  
Options to consultants (valued at the fair value 
of services received)	 -	 -	 2,000,000	 24,000

				  
The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was $1.50 (2009: $0.23).				  
The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted under the Plan as well as not under any plans is estimated as 
at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options 
were granted.  The fair value of shares issued is calculated by reference to the market value of the shares trading on the 
Australian Securities Exchange on or around the date of grant.

The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the years ended 30 June 2010 and 30 June 2009 respectively:
			 
	 2010	  2009

Volatility (%) - range	 118% - 139%	 68% - 138%

Risk-free interest rate (%) - range	 3% - 5.3%	 3% - 7.25%

Expected life of option (years) 	 2 to 3 years	 ¾ to 3 years

Exercise price (cents)	 $0.60 - $2.13	 $0.60 to $1.50
Weighted average share price at grant date (cents)	 $1.54	 $0.73

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may 
occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may 
also not necessarily be the actual outcome. No other features of options granted were incorporated into the measurement 
of fair value.
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19.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Overview

The Group has exposure to the following risks from the use of financial instruments:

-  credit risk
-  liquidity risk
-  market risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. 
Management monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through regular reviews 
of the risks.

	 CONSOLIDATED

		  Notes	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $

Financial Assets	 	
Cash and cash equivalents	 8	 185,591,726	 79,876,095
Receivables	 9 	 7,965,927	 3,375,929
Derivative financial assets	 12	 7,657,558	 -

Total Assets	 	 201,215,211	 83,252,024

Financial Liabilities	 		
Payables	 15	 23,053,160	 10,167,498

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and investment securities.  For 
the Company it arises from receivables due from subsidiaries.

The carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. 

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, that as far as possible, it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage 
to the Group’s reputation.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash 
flows.

The Group has accepted a Committed Letter of Offer to provide a borrowing facility of US$85 million for use in paying 
for development activities associated with the Central Ashanti Gold Project. At balance date, facility documentation was 
being prepared and no funds had been drawn under the facility.

Due to the nature of the Group’s activities and the present lack of operating revenue, the Company has to raise additional 
capital from time to time in order to fund its exploration, evaluation and development activities.  The decision on how and 
when the Company will raise future capital will depend on market conditions existing at that time and the level of forecast 
activity and expenditure. Typically the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational 
expenses for a period of between twelve and eighteen months, including the servicing of financial obligations; this 
excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters. 

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. These are 
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required 
to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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19.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

   Consolidated	 Less than 	 3 months – 	 1 – 
	 3 months	 1 year	 5 years
	 $	 $	 $

30 June 2010	 			 
Non-interest bearing 	 23,053,160	 -	 -

	 23,053,160	 -	 -

30 June 2009	 			 
Non-interest bearing 	 10,167,498	 -	 -

	 10,167,498	 -	 -

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial assets. These have 
been drawn up based on undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be earned 
on those assets except where the Company/Group anticipates that the cash flow will occur in a different period.

   Consolidated	 Less than 	 3 months – 	 6 months+
	 3 months	 6 months	
	 $	 $	 $

30 June 2010	 			 
Non-interest bearing 	 10,407,104	 -	 301,084
Variable interest rate instruments	 117,027,500	 -	 -
Fixed interest rate instruments	 65,821,965	 -	 -

	 193,256,569	 -	 301,084
30 June 2009	 			 
Non-interest bearing 	 651,751	 -	 28,229
Variable interest rate instruments	 29,092,920	 -	 -
Fixed interest rate instruments	 34,266,400	 19,212,724	 -

	 64,011,071	 19,212,724	 28,229

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will 
affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management 
is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

(i) 	 Currency risk

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, and hence is exposed to fluctuations in 
exchange rates. The currency in which these transactions are primarily denominated is United States of America dollars 
(US$).

The Group is also exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from the translation of its foreign operations. 

The Group has not entered into any derivative financial instruments to hedge such transactions and anticipated future 
receipts or payments that are denominated in a foreign currency.

Group’s investments in its subsidiaries are not hedged as those currency positions are considered to be long term in 
nature.



70

19.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

(ii) 	    Exposure to currency risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at balance date was as follows, based on notional amounts: 

	 30 June 2010	 30 June 2009	
	 Assets	 Liabilities	 Assets	 Liabilities
	 $	 $	 $	 $

United States Dollar (USD)	 129,917,121	 21,032,710	 9,838,762	 -
Ghanaian New Cedi  (GHS)	 -	 -	 432,500	 3,545,098
CFA francs (XOF) 	 332,781	 1,362,756	 290,256	 303,275

	 130,249,902	 22,395,466	 10,561,518	 3,848,373

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

	 Average rate	 Reporting date spot rate
	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 $	 $	 $	 $

United States Dollar (USD)	 0.88	 0.74	 0.86	 0.80
CFA francs (XOF)	 408.16	 362.83	 451.88	 382.77
Ghanaian New Cedi (GHS)	 -	 1.08	 -	 0.84

(iii) 	 Sensitivity analysis

A 10 percent strengthening of the Australian dollar against the above currencies at 30 June would have increased 
(decreased) equity and results by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular 
interest rates, remain constant. 

	 CONSOLIDATED (i)

		  	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $

Loss	 	 5,331,088	 721,450	

Equity	 	 (8,566,080)	 (1,967,782)		
(i)    this is mainly related to the translation of foreign denominated financial 
assets and liabilities at balance date.		
A 10 percent weakening of the Australian dollar against the above currencies 
at 30 June would have had the equal but opposite effect on the above 
currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables 
remain constant.

(iv) 	 Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rate relates 
primarily to the Group’s cash and cash equivalents.

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Company’s and the 
Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments is as follows:

Fixed rate Instruments	 			 
Financial assets	 	 65,821,965	 53,479,124
Financial liabilities	 	 -	 -

		  65,821,965	 53,479,124
Variable rate Instruments at call	 			 
Financial assets	 	 117,027,500	 29,092,920	
Financial liabilities	 	 -	 -

		  117,027,500	 29,092,920

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010
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19.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, and 
therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and results for 
the year by the amounts shown below, where interest is applicable. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain 
constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2009.

	 Profit or (Loss)	 Equity	
	 100bp increase	 100bp decrease	 100bp increase	 100bp decrease
	 $	 $	 $	 $

30 June 2010	 			 
Variable rate instruments	 1,170,275	 (1,170,275)	 1,170,275	 (1,170,275)

Cash flow sensitivity (net)	 1,170,275	 (1,170,275)	 1,170,275	 (1,170,275)
				  
30 June 2009	 			 
Variable rate instruments	 290,929	 (290,929)	 290,929	 (290,929)

Cash flow sensitivity (net)	 290,929	 (290,929)	 290,929	 (290,929)

The Company does not have any material risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors.

The following table summarises interest rate risk for the Group, together with effective interest rates as at balance date.

	 Weighted	 Fixed	 Floating	 Non-interest	 Total
	 average	 interest rate	 interest rate	 bearing
	 effective
	 interest rate	 $	 $	 $	 $
		
30 June 2010
Financial Assets:	 				  
Current:	 				  
  Cash at bank	 1.9%	 63,466,214	 111,879,608	 10,245,904	 185,591,726
  Receivables	 	 -	 -	 161,200	 161,200
Derivative financial assets	 	 -	 -	 7,657,558	 7,657,558
Non current:	 				  
  Security deposit	 0.3%	 2,355,751	 5,147,892	 301,084	 7,804,727

Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk	 	 65,821,965	 117,027,500	 18,365,746	 201,215,211

30 June 2009
Financial Assets:	 				  
Current:	 				  
  Cash at bank	 3.2%	 50,782,975	 29,092,920	 200	 79,876,095
  Receivables	 -	 -	 -	 679,780	 679,780
Non current:	 				  
  Security deposit	 1.4%	 2,696,149	 -	 -	 2,696,149

Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk	 	 53,479,124	 29,092,920	 679,980	 83,252,024
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19.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Net fair values

For assets and other liabilities, the net fair value approximates their carrying value.  No financial assets and financial liabilities 
are readily traded on organised markets in standardised form.  The Company has no financial assets where carrying amount 
exceeds net fair values at balance date. The aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial 
liabilities are disclosed in the balance sheet and in the notes to and forming part of the financial statements.

As of 1 July 2009, the Company has adopted the amendments to AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures which 
require disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

•	 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);
•	 inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 

(as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2); and
•	 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value at 30 June 2010.  
Comparative information has not been provided as permitted by the transitional provisions of the new rules. 

	 Level 1	 Level 2	 Level 3	 Total
	 $	 $	 $	 $

Assets	 				  
Derivatives used for hedging	 -	 7,657,558	 -	 7,657,558

	 -	 7,657,558	 -	 7,657,558

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and 
available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.  The quoted market price 
used for financial assets held by the group is the current bid price.  These instruments are included in level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is 
determined using valuation techniques.  The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on 
market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period.  Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments 
are used to estimate fair value for long-term debt for disclosure purposes.  Other techniques, such as estimated discounted 
cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.  The fair value of interest rate swaps 
is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows.  The fair value of forward exchange contracts is 
determined using forward exchange market rates at the end of the reporting period.  These instruments are included 
in level 2 and comprise debt investments and derivative financial instruments.  In the circumstances where a valuation 
technique for these instruments is based on significant unobservable inputs, such instruments are included in level 3.

Derivatives

Foreign currency and gold bullion forward contracts are measured using quoted forward exchange rates and gold prices 
and yield curves derived from quoted interest rates matching maturities of the contracts.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in 
the financial statements approximate their fair values.

Assumptions used in determining fair value of financial assets and liabilities
	 Valuation Date	 30 June 2010
	 Spot Date	 2 July 2010
	 Spot Basis	 US$1,242/oz

Capital Management

Management controls the capital of the Group in order to ensure that the Group can fund its operations on an efficient and 
timely basis and continue as a going concern. There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

Management effectively manages the Group’s capital by assessing the Group’s cash projections up to twelve months in 
the future and any associated financial risks.  Management will adjust the Group’s capital structure in response to changes 
in these risks and in the market.  

There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the Group since the prior year.  

Notes to the Financial Statements
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20.	 COMMITMENTS

(a)	   Exploration expenditure commitments

With respect to the Group’s mineral property interests in Ghana and Côte d’Ivoire, statutory expenditure commitments 
specified by the mining legislation are nominal in monetary terms.  However, as part of mineral licence application 
and renewal requirements, the Group submits budgeted exploration expenditure.  In assessing subsequent renewal 
applications, the mining authorities review actual expenditure against budgets previously submitted.  The Group’s budget 
expenditures for future periods are shown below.  These amounts do not become legal obligations of the Group and 
actual expenditure may and does vary depending on the outcome of actual exploration programs, and the costs and 
results from those programs. 

	 CONSOLIDATED

		  	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $

Within one year	 1,050,000	 1,070,000
One year or later and not later than five years	 5,360,000	 7,730,000
Later than five years	 1,510,000	 2,080,000

	 7,920,000	 10,880,000

(b)	   Capital commitments 
(i)	 In March 2007, the Company’s subsidiary, Kojina Resources Limited (“Kojina”), exercised an option to purchase 

all of the issued capital of Central Ashanti Gold Ltd (“CAGL”) (formerly Stratsys Investments Ltd), a Ghanaian 
company which is the holder of the Central Ashanti Gold Project.  CAGL itself had acquired the Central Ashanti 
Gold Project from the former owner, AngloGold Ashanti Limited (AGC). All consideration payable under the 
contract to purchase the Central Ashanti Gold Project, has been paid other than a royalty on gold produced 
from the leases of 2% if the gold price is below US$350/oz, 2.5% if the gold price is over US$350 but below 
US$500/oz and 3% if the gold price exceeds US$500/oz on resources existing on the Central Ashanti Mining 
Licences when CAGL entered in the contract with AGC, or a royalty at half of those rates on new resources 
identified by CAGL on those licences.

CAGL has also assumed responsibility for all rehabilitation of Central Ashanti Gold Project Mining leases, 
which are currently estimated to cost approximately US$2.25 million and a provision has been recorded for 
this at balance date (refer to Note 9).

As at 30 June 2010, CAGL had placed orders totalling US$95,417,262 for goods and services required for 
the construction of the Central Ashanti Gold Project, against which expenditure totalling US$49,856,711 was 
incurred by balance date. The remainder of these orders are due to be filled by 30 June 2011.
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20.	 COMMITMENTS - continued

(c)	   Physical gold delivery commitments

	 Gold for	 Contracted	 Value of
	 physical	 gold sale	 committed
	 delivery	 price	 sales
	 (Ounces)	 (US$ per ounce)	 (US$)

Within one year	 -	 -	 -
One year or later and not later than five years	 170,000	 1,241	 210,920,450
Later than five years	 -	 -	 -

	 170,000	 1,241	 210,920,450

The counterparties to the physical gold delivery contracts are Macquarie Bank Limited (“MBL”) and Credit Suisse AG 
(“CS”). The contracts are settled on a quarterly basis by physical delivery of gold as instructed by MBL and CS. The 
contracts are accounted for as sales contracts with revenue recognised once the gold has been delivered to MBL and 
CS or their agents. The Financial Risk Management Committee is responsible for monitoring gold production to assess 
if physical delivery commitments will be met in any given quarter and to report on same to the Board. The physical gold 
delivery contracts are considered contracts to sell a non-financial item and are therefore outside of the scope of AASB 
139. As a result the forward sales contracts have not been recognised on balance sheet.

(d)	   Remuneration commitments   
A number of KMP have entered into service agreements with the Company whereby either party can terminate the 
agreement by giving a period of written notice, or in the case of the Company by paying a cash sum in lieu of written 
notice.

	 CONSOLIDATED

		  	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $

Within one year	 1,257,000	 140,000
One year or later and not later than five years	 -	 -
Later than five years	 -	 -

	 1,257,000	 140,000

21.	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Company has entered into three lump sum contracts for the design, supply, construction and services related to the 
development of the Central Ashanti Gold Project. Notwithstanding the fixed price nature of the contracts, during and after 
the term of the contracts, claims may be made by the contractors for additional costs associated with changes in scope 
of work, valid extensions of time or similar.  

The Group had received a small number of claims from contractors that at 30 June 2010 were under review. One of these 
is a claim for US$7.8 million relating to costs claimed to have arisen due to delayed access to the Central Ashanti Gold 
Project site pending environmental approval which was subsequently obtained on 10 June 2010. The Directors do not 
believe that there is any substance to this claim and do not believe that it is possible to quantify the amount, if any, of any 
liability which may exist in relation to the claim prior to its substantiation by the contractor.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010
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22.	 STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS	 		
	 CONSOLIDATED

		  	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $

(a)      Reconciliation of the loss from ordinary activities to net cash 
           used in operating activities	 	
	
(Loss)/profit from ordinary activities after income tax	 (9,781,000)	 (4,789,201)
Add back non-cash items:		
   Depreciation 	 294,601	 31,487
   Provision for non-recovery of investments in associates 	 (212,435)	 3,330,819
   Employee benefits provision	 109,414	 -
   Foreign currency loss/(gain)	 (3,822,487)	 (691,932)
   Employee options 	 3,594,491	 817,184
   Consultants fees satisfied by the issue of shares and options	 -	 24,000
   Sundry income and expenses on-charged to related entity offset by 
   issue of shares and options	 -	 (78,434)
   Gain on sale of investments	 -	 (832,925)
   Share of associates net loss	 326,647	 327,682
   Devaluation of Put Options	 5,041,788	 -
   Property, plant and equipment written off	 -	 42,437
   Exploration Costs written-off	 844,972	 -

Change in assets and liabilities:	 	
   (Increase) in receivables	 490,354	 (96,576)
   (Increase) in other assets	 (684,583)	 (17,580)
   Increase / (decrease) in payables	 742,137	 370,883

Net cash used in operating activities	 (3,056,101)	 (1,562,156)

(b)      Non-cash financing and investing activities	 			 
				  
During the year, the Company issued options to employees, consultants and directors for nil consideration.  
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23.	 PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES 

	 PARENT

		  	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $

Financial Position
Assets	 	
Current assets	 114,491,348	 79,912,161
Non-current assets	 227,004,969	 73,986,351

Total assets	 341,496,317	 153,898,512
			 
Liabilities 	 	
Current liabilities	 782,818	 6,383,406
Non-current liabilities	 -	 -

Total liabilities	 782,818	 6,383,406

Equity
Issued capital	 346,615,812	 152,220,729
Retained earnings 	 (16,509,236)	 (10,369,642)
Reserves 	 -	 -
Share-based payments	 10,606,923	 5,664,019

Total equity 	 340,713,499	 147,515,106

Financial performance 
Loss for the year	 (6,139,594)	 (4,789,201)
Other comprehensive income	 -	 -
Total comprehensive income 	 (6,139,594)	 (4,789,201)

Contingent liabilities of the parent entity 
There were no contingent liabilities of the parent entity at 30 June 2010.

Commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment 
by the parent entity 

Plant and equipment	 	
Not longer than 1 year	 -	 -
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years	 -	 -
Longer than 5 years 	 -	 -

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010
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24.	 SUBSIDIARIES

   Name of subsidiary	 Notes	 Place of 	 Consolidated	 Consolidated
		  Incorporation	 Entity Interest	 Entity  Interest
			   2010 (%)	 2009 (%)

Parent Entity	 			 
Perseus Mining Limited	 (a)	 Australia	 	

Subsidiaries	 			 
Occidental Gold Pty Ltd (i)	 (a)	 Australia	 100	 100
Centash Holdings Pty Limited	 (a)	 Australia	 100	 -
Sun Gold Resources Ltd	 (b)	 Ghana	 100	 100
Kojina Resources Ltd (ii)	 (b)	 Ghana	 100	 100

(i) Subsidiarie of Occidental Gold Pty Ltd				  
Occidental Gold Sarl	 (c)	 Côte d’Ivoire	 100	 100

(ii) Subsidiarie of Kojina Resources Ltd 				  
Central Ashanti Gold Limited 	 (b)	 Ghana	 90	 100

Notes:
(a)	 Audited by HLB Mann Judd
(b)	 Audited by Ernst & Young Ghana
(c)	 Audited by Ernst & Young Côte d’Ivoire
(d)	 Central Ashanti Gold Limited has issued shares to the Ghanaian government during the period as required under 

the terms of the mining lease which has resulted in a 10% non-controlling interest.
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25.	 DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES	

Key Management Personnel 

The following Directors were Key Management Personnel of the Group during the reporting period and unless otherwise 
indicated were key management personnel for the entire period:

Non-Executive Directors	 Executive Directors
Mr Reginald Gillard	 Mr Mark Calderwood
Mr Neil Fearis 	 Mr Colin Carson
Mr Sean Harvey	 Mr Rhett Brans
Mr Michael Bohm	
	
Other Key Management Personnel	

Other Key Management Personnel of the Group during the reporting period, other than the Directors listed above were: 

Mr Susmit Shah	 Company Secretary
Mr Kevin Thomson	 Regional Exploration Manager (West Africa)
Mr Jeffrey Quartermaine	 Chief Financial Officer (commenced on 3 May 2010)
Mr Grant Pierce	 General Manager Operations  (commenced on 1 January 2010)
Mr Alexander Scott	 Commercial Manager (resigned 17 July 2010)

There have been no changes of the key management personnel after reporting date and prior to the date on which the 
financial report was authorised for issue other than Alexander Scott, who resigned with effect from 17 July 2010.

Key Management Personnel Compensation

The Key Management Personnel Compensation included in ‘Employee, Directors and consultants cost’ are as follows:

	 CONSOLIDATED

		  	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $

Short-term employee benefits	 1,675,273	 1,119,668
Post-employment benefits	 67,704	 47,808
Share-based payments	 2,136,704	 462,065

	 3,879,681	 1,629,541

Individual Directors and Other Key Management Personnel compensation disclosures

Individual Directors and Executives compensation disclosures

Information regarding individual Directors’ and Executives’ compensation and some equity instruments disclosures as 
permitted by Schedule 5B to the Corporations Regulations 2001 is provided in the Remuneration Report section of the 
Directors’ Report.  Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no Director has entered into a material contract with the 
Company or the consolidated entity since the end of the previous financial year and there were no material contracts 
involving Directors’ interests existing at year-end.

Loans to Key Management Personnel and their related parties

There were no loans outstanding at the reporting date to Key Management Personnel and their related parties.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010
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25.	 DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES - continued

Other Key Management Personnel transactions

A number of Key Management Persons, or their related parties, hold positions in other entities that result in them having 
control or significant influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities.  Transactions between related 
parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions unless otherwise stated.

	 CONSOLIDATED

		  	 2010	 2009
			   $	 $

(a)	 Rent, accounting, secretarial and corporate service fees paid or 
	 payable to Corporate Consultants Pty Ltd, a company in which 
	 Mr Gillard and the company secretary, Mr Susmit Shah, 
	 are Directors and have beneficial interests.	 427,266	 273,552
			
(b)	 Taxation services paid or payable to Icon Financial Management Pty Ltd, 
	 an entity in which Mr Gillard is a Director and has a beneficial interest.	 8,969	 5,346
			
Balances due to Directors and Director-Related Entities at year end	 	
- included in trade creditors and accruals	 66,524	 25,662

Shareholdings

The numbers of shares in the Company held during the financial year by Directors and other Key Management Personnel, 
including shares held by entities they control, are set out below:

	 Balance at	 Received as	 Options	 Other	 Balance at
	 30 June 2009	 Remuneration	 Exercised	 Movements	 30 June 2010
		
Directors
Reginald Gillard 	 748,000	 -	 600,000	 7,732	 1,355,732
Mark Calderwood 	 4,000,000	 -	 -	 (300,000)	 3,700,000
Colin Carson 	 673,200	 -	 -	 -	 673,200
Rhett Brans	 475,000	 -	 -	 -	 475,000
Neil Fearis	 330,000	 -	 -	 7,732	 337,732
Sean Harvey	 -	 -	 -	 100,000	 100,000
Michael Bohm	 -	 -	 -	 20,000	 20,000
					   
Other Key Management Personnel				    	
Susmit Shah	 269,500	 -	 -	 -	 269,500
Jeffrey Quartermaine	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -
Grant Pierce	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -
Kevin Thomson	 -	 -	 525,000	 (210,000)	 315,000
Alexander Scott	 -	 -	 300,000	 (300,000)	 -
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25.	 DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES - continued 

	 Balance at	 Received as	 Options	 Other	 Balance at
	 30 June 2008	 Remuneration	 Exercised	 Movements	 30 June 2009
		

Directors	
Reginald Gillard 	 675,000	 -	 5,000	 68,000	 748,000
Mark Calderwood 	 2,470,237	 -	 2,070,000	 (540,237)	 4,000,000
Colin Carson 	 751,423	 -	 239,000	 (317,223)	 673,200
Rhett Brans	 50,000	 -	 425,000	 -	 475,000
Neil Fearis	 100,000	 -	 300,000	 (70,000)	 330,000
					   

Other Key Management Personnel		  			 
Susmit Shah	 30,000	 -	 315,000	 (75,500)	 269,500
Kevin Thomson	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -
Alexander Scott	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -

Option holdings

The numbers of options to subscribe for shares in the Company held during the financial year by Directors and other Key 
Management Personnel, including options held by entities they control, are set out below:

   30 June 2010	 Balance at	 Received as	 Options	 Other	 Balance at	 Vested and
	 30 June 2009	 Remuneration	 Exercised	 Movements	 30 June 2010	 exercisable
						      at year end

Directors	
Reginald Gillard 	 600,000	 -	 (600,000)	 -	 -	 -
Mark Calderwood	 1,200,000	 -	 -	 -	 1,200,000	 1,200,000
Colin Carson 	 1,200,000	 -	 -	 -	 1,200,000	 1,200,000
Rhett Brans	 1,000,000	 -	 -	 -	 1,000,000	 1,000,000
Neil Fearis	 400,000	 -	 -	 -	 400,000	 400,000
Sean Harvey	 -	 600,000	 -	 -	 600,000	 600,000
Michael Bohm	 -	 400,000	 -	 -	 400,000	 -
						    

Other Key Management Personnel			   		
Susmit Shah	 350,000	 -	 -	 -	 350,000	 350,000
Jeffrey Quartermaine	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -
Grant Pierce	 -	 750,000	 -	 -	 750,000	 750,000
Kevin Thomson	 1,125,000	 300,000	 (525,000)	 -	 900,000	 600,000
Alexander Scott	 300,000	 -	 (300,000)	 -	 -	 -

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010
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25.	 DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES - continued 

 30 June 2009	 Balance at	 Received as	 Options	 Other	 Balance at	 Vested and
	 30 June 2008	 Remuneration	 Exercised	 Movements	 30 June 2009	 exercisable
						      at year end

Directors	
Reginald Gillard 	 605,000	 -	 (5,000)	 -	 600,000	 600,000
Mark Calderwood	 3,270,000	 -	 (2,070,000)	 -	 1,200,000	 1,200,000
Colin Carson 	 1,450,000	 -	 (239,000)	 (11,000)	 1,200,000	 1,200,000
Rhett Brans	 825,000	 600,000	 (425,000)	 -	 1,000,000	 400,000
Neil Fearis	 700,000	 -	 (300,000)	 -	 400,000	 400,000
						    

Other Key Management Personnel		  				  
Susmit Shah 	 415,000	 500,000	 (315,000)	 (250,000)	 350,000	 -
Kevin Thomson	 1,125,000	 600,000	 -	 (600,000)	 1,125,000	 525,000
Alexander Scott	 -	 600,000	 -	 (300,000)	 300,000	 -

Other transactions with Directors

Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no Director has entered into a material contract with the Company or the 
consolidated entity since the end of the previous financial year and there were no material contracts involving Directors’ 
interests subsisting at year-end.

(a) 		  Transactions with Related Parties - Subsidiaries

		  Wholly-Owned Consolidated Entity

	 The Company incurs exploration and evaluation expenditure on behalf of the subsidiaries. Investments are 
disclosed in Note 24. Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions 
unless otherwise stated.

(b) 		  Transactions with Other Related Parties 

		  The Company had no transactions with any other related party during the period ended 30 June 2010.

26.	 EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

Since the end of the financial year and to the date of this report no matter or circumstance has arisen that has significantly 
affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations or the state 
of affairs of the consolidated entity in subsequent financial years other than: 

	 The Company announced a significant upgrade of the Sissingue Mineral Resource which forms part of the 
Tengrela Gold Project in Côte d’Ivoire. At a 1.0 g/t gold cut-off grade, the upgraded Measured and Indicated 
Mineral Resource amounts to 9.9Mt at 2.5 g/t of gold for 796,000 ounces and the Inferred Mineral Resource 
amounts to 3.3Mt at 1.6 g/t of gold for 171,000 ounces. The grade of the Measured and Indicated Mineral 
Resource is 37% higher than that previously announced. 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

1.		  In the opinion of the Directors of Perseus Mining Limited (the ‘Company’):

	 a.	 the accompanying financial statements, notes and the additional disclosures are in accordance with the 
	 Corporations Act 2001 including:	

		  i.	 giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of 
		  its performance for the year then ended;  and

		  ii.	 complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) 
		  and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

	 b.	 there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
	 become due and payable.

	 c.    	 the financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
	 Standards as disclosed in Note 1.

2.		  This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in 
	 accordance with Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2010.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

M A Calderwood
Managing Director

Dated at Perth, 28 September 2010

Directors’ Declaration
30 June 2010
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
 
To the members of 
PERSEUS MINING LIMITED 
 
 
Report on the Financial Report 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Perseus Mining Limited (“the company”), 
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2010, and the statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year 
ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the 
directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled 
at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year as set out on pages 24 to 69.  
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report  
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes establishing and 
maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report 
that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 
circumstances.  
 
In Note 1(c), the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101: 
Presentation of Financial Statements, that the consolidated financial statements comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that 
we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the company’s internal control.

 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 

of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.  
 
Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors or 
management.   
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinions.  

36 to 82.
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Independence

 
 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001.  
 
Auditor’s Opinion  
In our opinion:  
(a) the financial report of Perseus Mining Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including:  
(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 

and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and  
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 

Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and  
(b) the consolidated financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting 

Standards as disclosed in Note 1(c).  
 
Report on the Remuneration Report 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 15 to 21 of the directors’ report for the 
year ended 30 June 2010.The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and 
presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 
2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  
 
Auditor’s Opinion  
In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Perseus Mining Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
 
  

 

 
 

 HLB MANN JUDD 
Chartered Accountants 

  
 

  
 

Perth, Western Australia 
28 September 2010 

M R W OHM 
Partner 

 

28 to 33
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Statement of Corporate Governance Practices

ASX Listing Rule 4.10.3 requires listed companies to disclose in their Annual Report the extent to which they have 
complied with the ASX Best Practice Recommendations of the ASX Corporate Governance Council in the reporting 
period.  A description of the Company’s main corporate governance practices is set out below.  All these practices, 
unless otherwise stated, were in place for the entire year.  They comply with the August 2007 ASX Principles of 
Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice Recommendations.

In a number of instances, the Company may determine not to meet the standard set out in the Recommendations, 
largely due to the relevant Recommendation being considered by the Board to be unduly onerous for a Company 
of this size.

As the Company’s activities develop in size, nature and scope, the size of the Board and the implementation of 
additional corporate governance structures will be given further consideration.

The Board sets out below its “if not, why not” report in relation to those matters of corporate governance where 
the Company’s practices depart from the Recommendations.  

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

Role of the Board and of Senior Executives (1.1)

The relationship between the Board and Senior Management is critical to the Company’s long-term success.  The 
Directors are responsible to the shareholders for the performance of the Company in both the short and the longer 
term and seek to balance sometimes competing objectives in the best interests of the Company as a whole. Their 
focus is to enhance the interests of shareholders and other key stakeholders and to ensure the Company is properly 
managed.  Without intending to limit this general role of the Board, the principal functions and responsibilities of 
the Board include the following:

•	 to set the strategic direction for the Company and monitor progress of those strategies;
•	 establish policies appropriate for the Company;
•	 monitor the performance of the Company, the Board and management;
•	 approve the business plan and work programmes and budgets;
•	 authorise and monitor investment and strategic commitments;
•	 review and ratify systems for health, safety and environmental management; risk and internal control; 

codes of conduct and regulatory compliance;
•	 report to shareholders, including but not limited to, the Financial Statements of the Company; and
•	 take responsibility for corporate governance.

Day to day management of the Company’s affairs and the implementation of the corporate strategy and policy 
initiatives are formally delegated by the Board to the Managing Director, other Executive Directors, Senior Managers 
and the Company Secretary.

Senior Executive Performance Review (1.2) 

It is the policy of the Board to conduct an evaluation of the performance of senior executives annually. Performance 
has been measured to date by the efficiency and effectiveness of the enhancement of the Company’s mineral 
interest portfolio, the designing and implementation of the exploration and development program, maintenance 
of relationships with joint venture partners and the securing of ongoing funding to continue its exploration and 
development activities.  This performance evaluation is not based on specific financial indicators such as earnings 
or dividends as the Company is at the exploration and development stage and, during this period, it is expected to 
incur operating losses.
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Statement of Corporate Governance Practices

Due to the size of the Company and the nature of its business, it has not been deemed necessary to institute a 
formal documented performance review program of senior executives. The Remuneration Committee considers 
adjustments to remuneration of Directors and Senior Executives annually after discussions with the Managing 
Director and other senior executives.  This annual remuneration review encompasses performance reviews of 
those individuals.

Principle 2: Structure the Board to add value

Principle 2 states that “companies should have a board of an effective composition, size and commitment to 
adequately discharge its responsibilities and duties”.  The Company’s Board is so structured, and its Directors 
believe that they have adequately discharged their responsibilities and duties to the benefit of shareholders.  

The preferred skills and experiences for a Director of the Company include:

•	 mineral resources;
•	 corporate and business development; and
•	 public company administration.

The Board has established a framework for the management of the consolidated entity including a system of 
internal control, a business risk management process, and the establishment of appropriate ethical standards. 

The full Board holds regular meetings to discuss operational matters, plus strategy meetings and any extraordinary 
meetings at such other times as may be necessary to address any specific significant matters that may arise.

The Board reviews its composition on an annual basis to ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise 
and experience.  When a vacancy exists, for whatever reason, or where it is considered that the Board would 
benefit from the services of a new Director with particular skills, the Board will select appropriate candidates with 
relevant qualifications, skills and experience.  External advisers may be used to assist in such a process.  The 
Board will then appoint the most suitable candidate who must stand for election at the next general meeting of 
shareholders.

The terms and conditions of the appointment and retirement of Directors are not formally set out in a letter 
of appointment.  However, matters such as remuneration, expectations, terms, the procedures for dealing with 
conflicts of interest and the availability of independent professional advice are clearly understood by all Directors, 
who are experienced public company directors.

Information regarding Directors’ experience and responsibilities is included in the Directors’ Report section of the 
Annual Report. 

Each Director has the right to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.  However, prior 
approval of the Chairman will be required, which will not be unreasonably withheld.

Independent Directors (2.1)

In assessing whether a Director is classified as independent, the Board considers the independence criteria set out 
in the ASX Corporate Governance Council Recommendation 2.1 and other facts, information and circumstances 
deemed by the Board to be relevant.
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Using the ASX Best Practice Recommendations on the assessment of the independence of Directors, the Board 
considers that of a total of seven Directors during the financial year ended 30 June 2010, four were considered to 
be independent (Mr Reg Gillard, Mr Neil Fearis, Mr Sean Harvey and Mr Michael Bohm).  Mr Mark Calderwood is 
the Managing Director of the Company and is not considered to be independent. Mr Colin Carson and Mr Rhett 
Brans are employed in executive roles and are not considered to be independent.  Both Mr Harvey and Mr Bohm 
were appointed during the year (September and October 2009 respectively) as the Company began to make the 
transition from mineral exploration to production. 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) (2.2, 2.3)

The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board, ensuring Directors are properly briefed in all matters relevant to 
their role and responsibilities, facilitating Board discussions and managing Board’s relationship with the Company’s 
senior executives. The Board considers that the Chairman, Mr Reg Gillard, is independent as discussed in the 
above paragraph.

The CEO is Mr Mark Calderwood, Managing Director, who is responsible for implementing Company strategies 
and policies.

Nomination Committee (2.4)

The Board of Directors of the Company does not have a nomination committee. The Board is of the opinion that 
due to the nature and size of the Company, the functions performed by a nomination committee can be adequately 
handled by the full Board.

When a new Director is to be appointed the Board reviews the range of skills, experience and expertise on the 
Board, identifies its needs and prepares a short-list of candidates with appropriate skills and experience. Where 
necessary, advice is sought from independent search consultants.

The Board then appoints the most suitable candidate who must stand for election at the next annual general 
meeting of the Company. 

Retirement and rotation of Directors are governed by the Corporations Act 2001 and the Constitution of the 
Company. Each year one third of the Directors (excluding the Managing Director) must retire and may offer 
themselves for re-election. 

Board Performance Review (2.5) 

It is the policy of the Board to conduct an evaluation of the performance of the Board annually. Performance 
is measured by the efficiency and effectiveness of the designing and implementation of the exploration and 
development program, the enhancement of the Company’s mineral interest portfolio, the maintenance of 
relationships with joint venture partners, the securing of required funding and the success of the Company’s 
exploration and development activities. Performance evaluation is not based on specific financial indicators such 
as earnings or dividends as the Company is at the exploration / development stage and, during this period, it is 
expected to incur operating losses.

Due to the size of the Board and the nature of its business, it has not been deemed necessary to institute a 
formal documented performance review program of individuals. On an ongoing basis, the Chairman conducts an 
informal review process whereby he discusses with individual Directors their attitude, performance and approach 
toward meeting the short and long term objectives of the Company. The Board considers that at this stage of the 
Company’s development an informal process is appropriate, however this position will be re-considered from time 
to time.
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Independent Professional Advice

Each Director has the right to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense after consultation 
with the Chairman. Once received, the advice is to be made immediately available to all board members.

Access to Employees

Directors have the right of access to any employee. Any employee can report any breach of corporate governance 
principles or Company policies to the Executive Directors and/or Company Secretary who shall remedy the breach. 
If the breach is not rectified to the satisfaction of the employee, they shall have the right to report any breach to an 
independent Director without further reference to Senior Managers of the Company.

Share Ownership

Directors are encouraged to own Company shares.

Board Meetings

The following points identify the frequency of Board Meetings and the extent of reporting from management at 
the meetings:

•	 a minimum of four meetings are to be held per year, although the Board aims to meet once a month;
•	 other meetings will be held as required, meetings can be held by telephone link; and
•	 information provided to the Board includes all material information on: operations, budgets, cash flows, 

funding requirements, shareholder movements, broker activity in the Company’s securities, assets and 
liabilities, disposals, financial accounts, external audits, internal controls, risk assessment, new venture 
proposals, and health, safety and environmental reports.

The number of Directors’ meetings and the number of meetings attended by each of the Directors of the Company 
during the financial year are set out in the Directors’ Report.

Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision making

Code of Conduct (3.1)

The Board acknowledges the need for continued maintenance of the highest standards of corporate governance 
practice and ethical conduct by all Directors and employees. The Company has not established a formal code of 
conduct, however the Directors ensure that all business affairs are conducted legally, ethically and with the strict 
observance of the highest standards of integrity and propriety. The Directors and management have the responsibility 
to carry out their functions with a view to maximising financial performance of the Company.  The Board considers 
that its business practices as set by the Board are the equivalent of a code of conduct.  At the present time, due to 
the size of the Company and lack of complexity in its activities, the Executive Directors are involved in all aspects of 
the Company’s activities.  The Directors are familiar with listing rules, legal requirements and general requirements 
for ethical behaviour and integrity in decision making, including trading in the Company’s securities.

All Directors and employees are expected to act with the utmost integrity and objectivity, striving at all times to 
enhance the reputation and performance of the Company.
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Trading Policy (3.2)

Trading in Company securities is regulated by the Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules. The Board makes all 
Directors, officers and employees aware on appointment that it is prohibited to trade in the Company’s securities 
whilst that Director, officer or employee is in the possession of price sensitive information.  The Company has a 
formal policy with respect to trading in the Company’s securities.

For details of shares held by Directors and officers please refer to the Directors’ Report in these Financial Statements. 
Directors are required to report to the Company Secretary any movements in their holdings of Company securities, 
which are reported to ASX in the required timeframe prescribed by the ASX Listing Rules.

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

Audit Committee (4.1, 4.2, 4.3) 

The Company has an Audit Committee comprising three independent Non-Executive Board members, with 
two committee members constituting a quorum. Details of the qualifications and expertise of these Directors 
is included in the Director’s Report.  The Audit Committee has adopted a formal Charter which contains details 
of the procedure for the selection and appointment of external auditor, and for the rotation of the external audit 
engagement partners. 

The Audit Committee Charter can be found on the Company website.

External Auditors

The Company requires external auditors to demonstrate quality and independence.  The performance of the external 
auditor is reviewed and applications for tender of external audit services requested as deemed appropriate, taking 
into consideration assessment of performance, existing value and tender costs.

HLB Mann Judd was appointed as external auditor in 2003.  In accordance with the Corporations Act HLB Mann 
Judd rotates audit engagement partners on listed companies at least every 5 years, and in accordance with that 
policy a new audit engagement partner was introduced for the year ended 30 June 2008.  A further change (Non-
Statutory) to the audit engagement partner was made during the year ended 30 June 2009.

Principle 5 & 6: Making timely and balanced disclosure and shareholder communication

Continuous Disclosure Policy and Shareholder Communication (5.1, 6.1)

The Company has not established written policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing 
Rule disclosure requirements and accountability for compliance.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the overall internal control framework, but recognises that 
no cost effective internal control system will preclude all errors and irregularities.   To assist in discharging this 
responsibility, the Board has instigated the following internal control framework:

Continuous disclosure – The Company is a “Disclosing Entity” within the meaning of section 111AC of the 
Corporations Act.  As such, regular reporting and disclosure obligations will require the Company to disclose to the 
ASX information of which it is, or becomes, aware that concerns the Company which a reasonable person would 
expect to have a material effect on the price or value of the Company unless certain exceptions from the obligation 
to disclose apply.
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The Company has in place informal procedures which it believes are sufficient for ensuring compliance with ASX 
Listing Rule disclosure requirements and accountability for compliance.   All price sensitive matters are handled by 
Directors, each of whom is aware of the listing rule requirements for disclosure of price sensitive information on 
a timely basis.

All stock exchange announcements are to be posted to the Company website, including all financial reports. The 
Company encourages effective participation at general meetings through a policy of open disclosure to shareholders, 
regulatory authorities and the broader community of all material information with respect to the Company’s affairs.  
All company announcements, media briefings, details of company meetings, press releases and financial reports 
are available on the Company’s website.  Shareholders and interested investors are encouraged to subscribe to 
the Company’s database, through which participants are made aware of news releases as soon as possible after 
such releases have been issued to the ASX and TSX.  Hard copies of financial reports and news releases are made 
available on request.  

Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk

The full Board has the responsibility for the risk management, compliance and internal controls systems of the 
Company.  The Company’s size and activities do not, at this stage, warrant the formation of a separate committee 
of the Board for this purpose.

Risk Management (7.1, 7.2)

Management, through the Managing Director, is responsible for designing, implementing and reporting on the 
adequacy of the Company’s risk management and internal control system. The Company’s risk management 
policy is designed to provide the framework to identify, assess, monitor and manage the risks associated with the 
Company’s business. The Company adopts practices designed to identify significant areas of business risk and to 
effectively manage those risks in accordance with the Company’s risk profile. The risks involved in a resources 
sector company and the specific uncertainties for the Company continue to be regularly monitored and the Managing 
Director regularly appraises the full Board of the Company as to the effectiveness of the Company’s management 
of its material business risks.  All proposals reviewed by the Board include a consideration of the issues and risks of 
the proposal. The potential exposures associated with running the Company have been managed by the Directors 
and Company Secretary who have significant broad-ranging industry experience, work together as a team and 
regularly share information on current activities.

Where necessary, the Board draws on the expertise of appropriate external consultants to assist in dealing with 
or mitigating risk.

The Company’s main areas of risk include:
•	 exploration; 
•	 new project acquisitions;
•	 security of tenure;
•	 environment;
•	 commodity price and market;
•	 government policy changes and political risk;
•	 occupational health and safety;
•	 financial reporting; and
•	 continuous disclosure obligations.

Statement of Corporate Governance Practices
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Assurances from the Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer (7.3)

It is the responsibility of the Board to regularly assess the adequacy of the Company’s risk management and internal 
control systems and that its financial affairs comply with applicable laws and regulations and professional practices.

Regular consideration is given to all these matters by the Board. The Company has in place an internal control 
framework to assist the Board in identifying, assessing, monitoring and managing risk. 

The Company’s internal control system is monitored by the Board and assessed regularly to ensure effectiveness 
and relevance to the Company’s current and future operations. Procedures have been put into place to ensure the 
Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer state in writing to the Board that the integrity of the financial 
statements is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and control and that the 
Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating efficiently and effectively.  

The Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer have declared in writing to the Board that the Company’s 
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2010 present a true and fair view, in all material aspects, of the 
Company’s financial condition and operational results and are in accordance with relevant accounting standards, 
that this is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and control and that the 
Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating efficiently and effectively.  
This representation is made by the Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer prior to the Board’s approval of 
the release of the annual and half yearly accounts. This representation is made after enquiry of, and representation 
by, appropriate levels of management.

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly

Remuneration Committee (8.1)

Details of the composition of the Remuneration Committee and meetings held during the period are as follows:  

Name	 	 Meetings Held	 Meetings Attended

R Gillard (Chairman)	 Independent, Non-Executive Chairman	 2	 2
N Fearis 	 Independent, Non-Executive Director	 2	 2
M Bohm	 Independent, Non-Executive Director	 1*	 1

*1 meeting of the Remuneration Committee held since the appointment of Mr Bohm as a Director in October 2009.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for 
the Non-Executive Directors and the Managing Director and the executive team (Key Management Personnel).  
The Remuneration Committee has adopted a formal Charter setting out its role and responsibilities and the 
Committee obtains external advice in relation to remuneration arrangements when deemed appropriate.

Remuneration Policy (8.2)

The Company’s policy for determining the nature and amount of emoluments of Board members is as follows:

•	 remuneration of Executive and Non-Executive Directors is reviewed annually by the Board; and

•	 remuneration packages are set at levels intended to attract and retain Directors and Executives capable of 
managing the Company’s operations and adding value to the Company.
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Non-Executive Directors

Non-Executive Directors receive fees which are determined by the Board within the aggregate limit set by the 
shareholders at a General Meeting. All Non-Executive Directors will receive remuneration by way of fees and 
receive no retirement benefits excluding statutory superannuation, if applicable. External professional advice will 
be sought to determine the level of Directors fees to ensure they are appropriate. The Board will determine the 
level of fees with reference to other comparable listed companies determined by size and nature of operations. 
Directors’ fees should be set at a level to attract suitably qualified individuals to accept the responsibilities of a 
Directorship.  Whilst the ASX Corporate Governance Council states otherwise, the Board considers the issue of 
options to Non-Executive Directors as an appropriate method of providing sufficient incentive and reward and 
attracting high calibre Directors.

Executives

The Executive Officers of the Company are the Managing Director, other executive directors, senior executives and 
the Company Secretary. The Executive Officers’ remuneration is considered to properly reflect the person’s duties 
and responsibilities, and takes account of remuneration levels across the sector.

Share and Option based remuneration

The Company may issue options to Executives as it is considered an appropriate method of providing sufficient 
incentive and reward whilst maintaining cash reserves.  Participants in equity-based remuneration plans are not 
permitted to enter into any transactions that would limit the economic risk of options or other unvested entitlements.  

For details of remuneration paid to Directors and officers for the financial year please refer to the Directors’ Report 
in these Financial Statements.
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MINERAL CONCESSION INTERESTS AT 1 OCTOBER 2010

Concession name 	 Registered 	 File/Permit	 Perseus’s	 Maximum	 Notes	
and type	 Holder	 Number	 current equity	 equity interest
			   interest	 capable of
				    being earned	 1	
	

Location - Ghana						     			 
CAGP Leases 	 Central Ashanti Gold Ltd	 1110/1994	 90%	 90%	 2,3
- Ayanfuri mining lease	
- Nanakaw mining lease
- Dadieso Prospecting Licence					  
Nsuaem 	 Central Ashanti Gold Ltd	 RL3/26	 90%	 90%	 2
Reconnaissance
Licence					  
Dunkwa 	 Central Ashanti Gold Ltd	 PL3/27	 90%	 90%	 2
Prospecting 
Licence			  				  
Grumesa-Awisam	 Sun Gold 	 PL2/30	 90%	 90%	 4	
Prospecting Licence	 Resources Limited		 				  
Kwatechi	 Tropical Exploration and 	 PL3/64	 16%	 76%	 5
Prospecting Licence	 Mining Company Limited				  
Nkotumso	 W.D. Mining Limited	 PL 3/29	 0%	 90%	 6
Prospecting Licence		  LVB 19127/06	
			 
Location – Ivory Coast						     				  
Tengrela East	 Occidental Gold	 145	 80%	 85%	 4,7,8,9
Research Permit	 (Ivory Coast) s.a.r.l		 				  
Tengrela South	 Societe Miniere de 	 146	 80%	 85%	 4,7,9	
Research Permit	 Côte d’Ivoire				   				  
Mahalé Research	 Occidental Gold 	 RL 07	 90%	 90%	 10
Permit	 (Ivory Coast) s.a.r.l			  					   
M’Bengué Research	 Occidental Gold	 RL 06	 90%	 90%	 10	
Permit	 (Ivory Coast) s.a.r.l
		

CAGP – Central Ashanti Gold Project

Mineral Concession Interests
At 1 October 2010
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MINERAL CONCESSION INTERESTS - continued

Notes - 
1.	 The Governments of Ghana and Ivory Coast are entitled to a 10% equity interest in mining companies owning 

projects.  Perseus’ quoted equity is after allowance for that national interest, which occurs when a new project 
company is established prior to commencement of mining.  In addition, the Ghana Government may negotiate 
the purchase of up to a further 20% interest upon terms to be agreed with the holder of mining licence where 
any mineral is discovered in commercial quantities, although this statutory right is rarely exercised.

Production royalties are payable to the Governments of Ghana (5%) and Ivory Coast (3%).

2.	 A royalty of 0.25% of gold produced from the CAGP Licences and the Nsuaem and Dunkwa Licences is 
payable to the former shareholders of CAGL.

3.	 Under the original contract to purchase the CAGP Licences, CAGL is required to pay AngloGold Ashanti Ltd 
(“AGC”) a royalty on gold production of: 1% if the gold price is below US$350/oz; 1.25% if the gold price 
is over US$350 and below US$500/oz; and 1.5% if the gold price exceeds US$500/oz, on new resources 
identified on the CAGP Licences after entering into the purchase contract with AGC or a royalty at double 
those rates on resources pre-existing on the CAGP Licences when CAGL entered in the contract with AGC.

4.	 A royalty of 0.5% of the value of minerals recovered from the licence is payable to the vendors of the exploration 
licence.

5.	 The Company has the right to earn a 76% interest in the property by funding the development of the project 
to profitable production.  Joint venture partners, Tropical and Leo Shield, each retain a 7% interest which 
is convertible to a 1.25% net smelter royalty at the option of those parties within 30 days of completion 
of a feasibility study.  The Company can withdraw from the joint venture at any time and is required to pay 
US$3,600 to Tropical annually whilst it remains in the joint venture.

6.	 The Company has an option exercisable on or before 26 July 2016 to purchase the Nkotumso prospecting 
licence for US$10 plus US$3 per ounce royalty of gold produced.

7.	 The joint venture partner is free carried to production with costs subsequently recoverable by Perseus from 
production.

8.	 A royalty of US$0.80 per ounce of gold produced from the licence is payable.

9.	 The Company has an option to acquire 5% of the joint venture partner’s 10% interest (ie giving it a total 85% 
interest) after completion of a bankable feasibility study.  The option exercise price is payment of the amount 
of US$0.80 per ounce of gold (or equivalent) stated to be a reserve in the bankable feasibility study.

10.	 Applications to convert the reconnaissance licences into prospecting permits have been approved and 
Presidential decree is awaited prior to formal grant.

Mineral permits and licences in which Perseus has an interest are subject to renewal from time to time in accordance 
with the relevant legislation of the governing jurisdiction and Perseus’s compliance therewith.
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Additional Shareholder Information

The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 1 October 2010.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Holdings of substantial shareholders as advised to the Company are set out below:

Name of Holder	 Number of Ordinary Shares

Dundee Corporation 	 42,815,000
Macquarie Group Limited	 27,522,474

DISTRIBUTION OF HOLDERS OF EQUITY SECURITIES

	 Size of	 Number of
	 Holding	 Holders	
	 1 to 1,000	 973
	 1,001 to 5,000	 1,809
	 5,001 to 10,000	 749
	 10,001 to 100,000	 1,028
	 100,001 and over	 140

		  4,699

The number of shareholdings comprising less than a marketable parcel was 137.

VOTING RIGHTS

The voting rights attaching to ordinary shares are governed by the Constitution.  On a show of hands every person 
present who is a member or representative of a member shall have one vote and on a poll, every member present 
in person or by proxy or by attorney or duly authorised representative shall have one vote for each share held.  None 
of the options has any voting rights.

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS 	 Number of Shares	 % Held
		
CDS & Co	 90,144,799	 21.396
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 	 79,633,703	 18.902
J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 	 46,435,771	 11.431
National Nominees Limited	 45,669,656	 10.840
Macquarie Bank Limited 	 24,120,137	 5.725
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited	 21,070,350	 5.001
Bond Street Custodians Limited	 6,402,316	 1.520
Brispot Nominees Pty Ltd	 6,143,837	 1.458
Mark Andrew Calderwood	 3,075,000	 0.730
Cogent Nominees Pty Limited	 2,891,366	 0.688
AMP Life Limited	 2,720,657	 0.646
Goldman, Sachs & Co.	 2,180,000	 0.517
Exploration Capital Partners 2008 Limited Partnership	 2,000,000	 0.475
UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd	 1,958,998	 0.465
Royter & Co	 1,900,000	 0.451
UBS Nominees Pty Ltd	 1,699,881	 0.403
Caspian Oil & Gas Limited	 1,672,120	 0.397
Escor Investments Pty Ltd	 1,500,000	 0.356
Mandel Pty Ltd	 1,450,000	 0.344
Mark Andrew Calderwood (Family Account)	 1,405,000	 0.333

	 344,073,591	 82.078
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UNQUOTED OPTIONS

Unquoted options on issue at 1 October 2010 were as follows:

	 Refer
	 Note	 Number of Options	 Exercise Price	 Exercise Periods/ Expiry Dates	 Number of Holders

	 3	 1,800,000	 $0.60	 On or before 13 August 2011	 1
	 1	 1,195,000	 $0.65	 On or before 23 January 2012	 10
	 4	 1,000,000	 $1.00	 On or before 31 December 2010	 1
	 2	 600,000	 $1.00	 On or before 30 June 2011	 1
	 5	 600,000	 $1.30	 On or before 31 March 2012	 1
	 6	 400,000	 $1.80	 On or before 31 March 2012	 1
	 1	 1,800,000	 $2.13	 On or before 14 January 2012	 4
	 1	 1,330,000	 $2.13	 On or before 16 June 2013	 12
	 1	 400,000	 $2.45	 On or before 29 July 2012	 1
				  

The names of the holders of 20% or more options in these unquoted securities are listed below:

	 Note	 Name	 Number of Options Held		
	 2	 R B Brans	 600,000
	 3	 Waratah (Aust) Pty Ltd	 1,800,000
	 4	 BGF Equities Pty Ltd	 1,000,000
	 5	 T S Harvey	 600,000
	 6	 M A Bohm	 400,000
		
Note 1 – These options have been issued under the terms of the Company’s Employee Option Plan.

	

Additional Shareholder Information
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